
 

 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 13 July 2020.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

 

     

 
 

Tuesday, 21 July 2020 at 10.30 am 
This meeting will be held by remote conferencing using 

Skype for Business 
 

 
Committee 
Members: 

 
Chair to be confirmed 
Councillor John Cottier (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Councillor Ashley Baxter, Councillor Phil Dilks, Councillor Gloria Johnson, Councillor 
Nikki Manterfield, Councillor Mrs Judy Smith and 1 Conservative vacancy 
 

 
Invited 
Cabinet 

Members 

 
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations  
 

Agenda 

 Virtual Meeting - Joining Arrangements 
Councillors should access the meeting using the link in their calendar. 

Members of the press and public can gain access to the meeting by using the following link: 

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 21 July 2020 

If you are using a smartphone or tablet it may be necessary to download the Skype for Business app 

before you can enter the meeting; please allow yourself time to do this. If you are using a laptop or 

desktop computer, you should be able to access the meeting via your web browser. 

When you follow the link to the meeting you will enter a virtual lobby; you will be invited into the 

meeting from the lobby just before the meeting begins. Members of the public should not use the 

Chat function in Skype for Business. This is for use by Councillors, who will use it to indicate that 

they would like to speak. 

If you have any questions about how to join the meeting, please e-mail 

democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk. 

 

 
Environment 

Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee 

https://meet.southkesteven.gov.uk/d3/FNCZ0C59
mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk


 

 

1.   Comments from Members of the public 
To receive comments or views from members of the public at the Committee’s 

discretion 

 

   
2.   Register of attendance, membership and apologies for absence  

   
3.   Disclosure of Interests 

Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 

meeting 

 

   
4.   Action Notes from the meeting held on 21 June 2020 (Pages 3 - 11) 

   
5.   Updates from the previous meeting  

   
6.   Performance Report 

A report detailing the performance dashboard development work undertaken to 

date, development of future performance reporting, and 2019/20 out-turn 

figures for waste services. 

(Pages 13 - 17) 

   
7.   Carbon Footprint Report 

Report providing an overview of progress to date of work undertaken to 

understand South Kesteven District Council’s carbon footprint and possible 

projects to reduce carbon emissions. 

(Pages 19 - 77) 

   
8.   Review of Public Space Protection Orders 

A report considering existing the extension of existing Public Space Protection 

Orders, and an additional proposed Order 

(Pages 79 - 124) 

   
9.   2020/21 Work Programme 

To confirm the Work Programme and add items as necessary 
(Pages 125 - 137) 

   
10.   Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 

circumstances, decides is urgent 
 

   



 
 

Meeting of the 
Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
Tuesday, 23 June 2020, 10.30 am 

 

 

 

Committee members present 
  

Councillor John Cottier (Vice Chairman, 
chaired this meeting)   
Councillor Ashley Baxter     
Councillor Phil Dilks     
Councillor Gloria Johnson     
 

Councillor Mrs Judy Smith     
Councillor Linda Wootten  
Councillor Ray Wootten  
 

  

Cabinet Members   
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 

  

Other Members  

Councillor Jacky Smith  

  

Officers  
 

Strategic Director, Commercial and Operations (Gary Smith) 
Head of Environmental (Anne-Marie Coulthard)  
Grounds Maintenance Coordinator, Street Scene (Lynne Lord) 
Sustainability and Climate Change Officer (Serena Brown) 
Scrutiny Officer (Zena West) 
Democratic Officer (Jack Gardner) 
 

 
Comments from the Committee 
 
The Committee wished to have recorded their appreciation for the work undertaken by 
Councillor Chris Benn as the Chair of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.  The Committee wished him a speedy recovery. 
 

45. Register of attendance, membership and apologies for absence 
 
Councillor Benn had stood down as a Councillor.  An apology for absence was 
received from Councillor Nikki Manterfield. Councillors Ray and Linda Wootten 
attended the meeting as substitutes. 
 

3

Agenda Item 4



 
 

46. Disclosure of Interests 
 
No interests were disclosed. 
 

47. Action Notes from the meeting held on 25 February 2020 
 
Two Members referred to the action notes, noting that they did not recall 
asking for rewilding to be an item on the agenda and, recognised that it was 
agreed for one rewilding site per town, reiterating the request that was made 
for consultation to be undertaken.  A Member did not feel the point he had 
made had adequately been captured that there should be an expectation that 
mature or more established trees were replaced with something much more 
than simply one sapling for any such tree felled. 
 
Subject to the above changes, the action notes of the meeting held on 25 
February 2020 were noted and agreed. 
 

48. Updates from the previous meeting 
 
The Chair noted that many of the actions from the notes of the previous 
meeting would not have been actioned due to officers dealing with the Covid-
19 lockdown. The Committee heard that many of the initiatives that were 
discussed at the previous meeting had been suspended during this time.  
 
A Member asked whether the environmental performance indicators 
mentioned in the previous meeting had been created and when they would be 
brought to the Committee for scrutiny as well as whether he could receive 
feedback on his suggested indicators from the responsible officer before the 
next Committee meeting. The Cabinet Member replied that it was important 
that these indicators were created and noted that Members might not have 
been aware of the reduced resource available to the Council during the early 
stages of Covid-19.  Resources had been redeployed elsewhere which had 
meant that the creation of reports for Committees had not been a priority. 
 
Action: 
A performance report to be brought to a future meeting. 
 
Members asked if there was a resolution to the question of ownership in 
respect of the water fountain on Conduit Road and were informed that it was 
not owned by the Council.  It was also suggested that it might not be possible 
to restore it as it would not meet water hygiene standards.   
 

49. Review of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 
 
The Cabinet Member for Operations and Commercial introduced the report 
and reminded Members that the report would form part of the work going 
forward for consultation before it could be adopted. It was noted that the 
current policy was adopted on 1 April 2015. The Policy was fundamental to 

4



 
 

protecting public safety and keeping people from harm and provided the 
framework upon which the Authority delivered its statutory functions relating to 
hackney carriage and private hire licensing.  The current policy had been 
reviewed to ensure it reflected current guidance and continued to be fit for 
purpose, whilst also promoting improvements which supported environmental 
sustainability.  
 
The Committee was reminded that on 23 January 2020 Members of the 
Licensing Committee and the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
held a joint workshop to consider 3 key areas of the Policy; environmental 
sustainability; driver knowledge and language proficiency; and the use of e-
cigarettes and vaping devices. The Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee received feedback from the workshop at their 25 February 2020 
meeting. The revised draft policy encompassed this feedback together with 
other amendments with “tracked changes” was at Appendix 1.   
 
The Cabinet Member provided a brief overview of the amendments previously 
suggested by the Committee. These included requirements for a language 
examination and to check whether action could be taken to prevent vehicles 
from idling. The Committee was informed of the proposed sanctions that 
drivers could receive for idling, initially with a warning but then subsequent 
issue of penalty points.  Should a driver accrue twelve penalty points within 
one year, they would be invited to attend a Licencing Committee who would 
consider and decide whether the driver was a fit and proper person to hold a 
licence. 
  
It was noted that whilst there was no legal duty placed on the Council to 
consult on this policy, it was good practice to do so and was in line with the 
Department for Transport’s ‘Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing: Best 
Practice Guidance’ (March 2010).  It was proposed that a 4-week public 
consultation would be undertaken and would focus on the hackney carriage 
and private hire trade alongside the general public and other relevant 
stakeholders, including the Authority’s Licensing Committee.  
 
Members discussed the difficulties of enforcing restrictions on idling but felt 
that the proposal was an important part in sanctioning repeat offenders. A 
Member asked what criteria was used to determine when idling was taking 
place and was directed to section 2.13 of the draft policy which stated: ‘Drivers 
are reminded that the Highway Code states that you must not leave a parked 
vehicle unattended with the engine running or leave a vehicle engine running 
unnecessarily while the vehicle is stationary on a public road.’ 
 
Members unanimously agreed with the feedback and the proposed sanctions 
from the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy Workshop. 
 
Recommendation: 
That following consideration of the draft Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire Licensing Policy together with the feedback from the joint 

5



 
 

workshop, the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed 
that this draft policy was appropriate and suitable to use as the basis for 
consultation. 
 

50. Update from the Climate Change Task and Finish Group - 16 June 2020 
 

The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations provided the Committee with an 
update from the recent meeting of the Climate Change Action Task and Finish Group. He 
noted that the Carbon Trust had been appointed to identify the potential work and areas of 
focus for the Council so they could address the proposed carbon footprint target set in 
September 2019 at Full Council.  Data had shown that the Council’s carbon footprint for 
the period 2018/19 had been calculated at 7,600tC02e.  This was calculated from 4 key 
emission categories; Fuel consumption (Council’s vehicle fleet); gas consumption 
(buildings); electricity consumption (buildings) and leased assets (such as leisure 
centres).  It was noted that just over 30% of the consumption emanated from Council 
buildings with a further 40% coming from leisure centres.   
 

The Council’s pledge in September 2019 had been to reduce the carbon footprint by at 
least 30% by 2030 with the aim to become net zero carbon as soon as viable before 
2050.   
 
The Cabinet Member referred to the bold approach the Council had taken in calculating its 
emissions and including downstream carbon emissions such as leisure facilities in the 
total which did not have to be included. The aim of this approach was to help the Council 
show leadership by setting an example to other organisations and residents.  
 
The initial focus had been on Council buildings and identifying projects that would help 
contribute to achieving the carbon reduction target. The Committee was reminded that 
during the collation of data, focus had been channelled down and had concentrated 
mainly on buildings, water, waste, vehicles and business mileage as these areas had 
been identified as the main areas of highest output. As a result, three hot spots were 
identified: Council Buildings, the Council’s Fleet of vehicles and leisure centres.  It was 
noted that some changes had already taken place such as installing LED lighting in some 
Council offices. The decarbonisation work being undertaken by the national electricity grid 
had also been referred and would also help reduce the Council’s carbon footprint.  
 
The following areas had been suggested as opportunities for the Council. 
 
Scope 1 

 Gas consumption for heating both space and water in buildings 

 Council fleet fuel consumption 
 
Scope 2 

 Electricity consumption in Council buildings 
 

Scope 3 

 Energy, waste and water consumption from leased buildings such as leisure centres 

6



 
 

 Upstream emissions from natural gas, electricity and vehicle fuel 

 Business travel in non-Council vehicles 

 Third-party disposal and treatment of waste generated in Council controlled operations 

 Supply and subsequent treatment of water consumed by the Council’s operations 
 
The Committee was reminded of the hard work ahead for the Council in tackling the 
climate emergency.  The significant impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the way the 
Council worked, had provided the Council with an opportunity to implement some 
changes that would reduce its carbon emissions. The Cabinet Member stated that caution 
was also needed due to the uncertainty of the situation and hoped to work closely with the 
Committee going forward. 
 
Members commented on how useful the Task and Finish Group was and the significant 
impact the Carbon Trust report had on them. Discussion took place around releasing the 
Carbon Trust report in its current format to the public.  The Cabinet Member stressed that 
the Council aimed to publish the report formally shortly.  
 
A Member raised concerns about the Committee receiving a verbal update on the work of 
the Task and Finish Group. The Chair told the Committee that while this was just a verbal 
update, further reports and recommendations from the Task and Finish Group would be 
brought to Committee. One Member commented that deadlines should be set for the Task 
and Finish Group so recommendations could be produced in a timely manner. In 
response, the Cabinet Member noted that the timeframes for the group came from the 
Council’s Climate Emergency declaration. Further discussion was around creating a 
report for the next meeting of the Committee that would outline the work completed by the 
Task and Finish Group. The Committee heard that the Task and Finish Group was still in 
the early stage of digesting the Council’s current climate footprint. The Cabinet Member 
reminded Members of the delays that Covid-19 had caused in the work of the Task and 
Finish Group. 
 
The Committee also discussed areas of working where it would be difficult for the Council 
to have an impact on emissions such as planning policy. The Committee was eager to 
show leadership in these areas with a realistic understanding of the legal limitations that 
the Council had. 
 
Further discussion took place on Members’ desire for greater consensus within the 
Lincolnshire waste partnership. One Member spoke of his belief that the County Council 
took the credit as the disposal authority while SKDC had the greater share of the expense 
as the collection authority. The Cabinet Member responded by suggesting that the 
Council was a proactive and strong voice that sought to build consensus and that he felt 
the Council did receive a fair share of credit within the partnership. The Committee was 
reminded of the Council’s proactive stance in respect of the food waste scheme. He also 
shared concerns around the difficulties of educating residents to dispose of their waste in 
a more environmentally friendly manner.  
 
The Cabinet Member referred to the previously operated recycling credit scheme which 
had included a method of funding for education initiatives, but since it had been 
suspended education programmes were now short lived with limited impact.  

7



 
 

 
51. Re-wilding Pilot Scheme 

 
The Cabinet Member referred to the Committee’s ambition to increase 
rewilding and biodiversity within the District. He commented on the 
suggestions from the previous Committee meeting that were incorporated into 
the report. The Committee had been provided with information about the 
consultation undertaken with ward members. Areas under consideration for 
rewilding together with the results of consultation with ward members were 
outlined.  
 
The Cabinet Member provided the Committee with a presentation of the 
Rewilding Pilot Scheme.  He noted the key stakeholders were, Town/Parish 
Councils, SKDC Ward Councillors, local interest groups and residents.   
 
Areas considered for rewilding were parts of the recreation ground in Bourne, 
the Foxglove play area in Stamford, areas in Queen Elizabeth Park, Wyndham 
and Dysart parks in Grantham and Tattershall Drive in Market Deeping.  

 
A Member queried whether total emissions for the District were known as the emissions of 
the Council would only form a small part of that total. The Committee was told that total 
carbon emissions for the district were not known and the Council’s initial focus was to 
provide leadership through its experience of identifying and disseminating their findings to 
industries, organisations, residents and individuals.  
 
The Cabinet Member expected the Task and Finish Group would, as part of its work, help 
develop potential projects that would be brought before this Committee for consideration 
and direction for officers to implement and complete. The projects would probably be 
pragmatic challenges that would tackle the Council’s overall carbon emissions which 
should impact positively on the climate in general. The Cabinet Member stressed that 
while Covid-19 had provided opportunities, it had also created challenges. With the nation 
moving into the recovery stage of the pandemic, the financial impact of the virus meant 
that the Council would need to take a measured response. The Cabinet Member 
reiterated his thoughts that officer resources should be focused on delivering the projects.  
 
A Member commented on the opportunity in front of both the Committee and the Task and 
Finish Group.  It was coming up to a year since the declaration at Council in September 
2019 of the climate emergency the Council faced, and it was hoped that the steps taken 
would soon be advertised. The Cabinet Member acknowledged that time had moved on 
and that work must progress.  He also noted that the Council should recognise and 
celebrate the work undertaken by the Task and Finish Group on its’ progress in identifying 
and measuring the Council’s impact in order to move on to the next stage.  If Covid-19 
had not created substantial changes and challenges a lot more could have been 
achieved. 
 
Action 
That a report on the work of the Task and Finish Group be brought to the next 
Committee meeting. 

8



 
 

 
Members were reminded of the types of rewilding being considered and 
potential benefits. 
 
Rewilding: Allowing nature to take back control, tall grasses and other plant 
species naturalise are permitted which encourages wildlife, insects, birds and 
mammals.  
 
Tiered land management: A method of providing multiple levels or tiers with 
differing levels of rewilding habits within the same area. 
 
Members were also provided with overview of the potential costs and savings 
for each proposed site.   
 
Reference was made to how the success of the rewilding projects would 
require the support of both local Members and the local community.  
 
A Member questioned why, when examining the sites, the Jubilee Park site in 
Deeping St James had not been selected when it had been suggested as a 
possible site at the previous meeting. The Cabinet Member replied that he 
was unaware what criteria had been used to determine which site would be 
chosen but remembered that it was commented on at the time that there were 
two sites in the Deepings and it was agreed that there would only be one site 
per town.  
 
Action: 
That the criteria used for determining which site was to be chosen would 
be distributed to Members of the Committee together with an 
explanation of why Tattershall Drive was picked instead of Jubilee Park. 
 
A Member queried the work undertaken by Environment SK in the Frognall 
area and referred to a verge containing wildflowers that was maintained by the 
community but had recently been cut. The Cabinet Member replied that 
Environment SK was a commercial company and they would be expected to 
complete work they had been contracted to do.  It was suggested that the 
question would need to be directed to the organisation that raised the work 
order.  It was commented that this was likely to be the parish council.  
 
The Cabinet Member was also questioned about litter picking and cutting 
down of wildflowers on a roundabout in the Deepings area. The Cabinet 
Member replied that as far as he was aware South Kesteven had not been 
informed on the lane closures by Lincolnshire County Council’s highways 
department. Discussion also took place around planting licences that could be 
applied for verges in order to allow wildflowers to grow or flowers to be 
planted. 
 
Members thanked officers for their work in bringing forward the proposals to 
the Committee. One Member commented that time had been lost during the 

9



 
 

period prior to Covid-19 lockdown that could have been used to start growing 
wildflowers. The Cabinet Member noted there had been less time than 
imagined due to Council resources being used for emergency planning prior to 
restrictions and lockdown.  Members also queried the lack of feedback from 
local towns and parish councils and were informed that the only feedback 
received was from Stamford Town Council.  
 
A Member asked why hedge planting had not been included in the update as 
it had been suggested at a previous meeting. He also queried whether it 
would be possible for grass cutting to be set at a slightly higher level which 
would provide a better habitat for wildlife. The Cabinet Member replied that 
hedge plantings were not part of the rewilding proposals.  The Strategic 
Director for Commercial and Operations advised that the action note from the 
previous meeting recorded that hedges would be added to the work plan for 
the Committee, noting that officers would prepare a report when hedges were 
included on an agenda for a future meeting.  
 
Action: 
That a report on hedges would be included on a future agenda. 
 
Discussion took place on the difficulty of managing grass and the conflicting 
concerns of allowing grass to grow long in order to preserve biodiversity and 
provide a habitat to wildlife against the desire for residents to have shorter 
grass for their neatness. A Member spoke of their belief that a compromise 
between these factors could be found with experimentation but understood the 
difficulties in managing this. Another Member commented on the Highways 
policy of allowing residents to adopt verges and roundabouts.  She queried 
whether there was a cost in applying for permission. The Cabinet Member 
spoke of the Council’s decision during lockdown to make parks and gardens 
as accessible to as many as possible so residents in lockdown could enjoy 
them.  
  
Further discussion ensued on the proposals on Recreation Road in Bourne 
and it was noted that sporting events and charity events made it an unsuitable 
location for wildflower planting.  Members were fully in support of rewilding in 
the area but felt a search for an alternative site should be conducted. A 
Member raised the possibility of examining North Field as an alternative site.   
 
Action: 
That North field (Bourne) be considered and assessed as an alternative 
site for rewilding and that consultation with ward members would be 
undertaken. 
 
Cllr Dilks left 12:17 
 
A Member raised concerns about an apparent lack of consultation in respect 
of Jubilee park and queried whether the proposal had been rejected before 
any consultation had been completed. Officers noted that the action notes 

10



 
 

from a previous meeting had indicated that it had been agreed to look at one 
site per town and this was what officers had progressed.  
 
Recommendations: 
 
Following a full and frank discussion on the recommendations in the 
report, together with additional suggestions from Members, the 
Committee recommended: 
 
a) That the Tattershall Drive proposal proceeds 
 
b) That the Recreation Road proposal should not be progressed 
 
c) That the Foxglove Road proposal proceeds as an updated 

proposal  
 

52. 2020/21 Committee Work Programme 
 
The Committee considered the work programme and agreed that the following 
items be included: 
 

a) Environment performance indicators. 
 

b) A report on the work undertaken by the Chief Executive’s Climate 
Change Task and Finish Group to go to the next meeting. 

  
c) Cycling and Single Use Plastics to be included in the workplan and 

brought to a future meeting.  
 
d) A representative from the Internal Drainage Board to be invited to a 

future meeting. 
   
e) The Committee to receive an update on Rewilding at the December 

meeting. 
 

53. Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent 
 
There was no other business. 
 

54. Close of meeting 
 
The meeting closed at 12:28. 
 
 

11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

21 July 2020 

Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley 

  Cabinet Member for Commercial 
and Operations 

           

 

Environmental Performance Indicators 

This report provides an overview of the performance dashboard development work undertaken to 
date, and the next steps to develop future performance reporting to the Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 
 
The report also provides 2019/20 out-turn figures for waste services. 

 

 

Report Author 

Ben Russell, Performance Lead 

 
01476 406394 

 benrussell@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Competitiveness Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Lee Sirdifield, Strategic Director, Transformation and 
Change 

8 July 2020 

Approved by: Gary Smith, Strategic Director, Corporate & 
Operations 

8 July 2020 

Signed off by: Cllr Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Corporate 
& Operations 

13 July 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Note the content of the report and support the ongoing transformation of 
performance management. 

13

Agenda Item 6

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting agenda @southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 In 2019, performance monitoring at South Kesteven District Council was evaluated 

internally, and the process of changing the performance management framework began. 

Emphasis was placed on the move from a retrospective and manual reporting system to a 

business intelligence software programme to automate the collation of data which allows 

services to be better informed, proactive and use resources more effectively. 

1.2 While operational data is a key focus, by becoming more data driven and deploying less 

resource to retrospective data collection, officers have been able to improve the quality of 

performance data presented to Members. 

1.3 Corporate performance has historically been reported to the Finance, Economic 

Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee. An all Member 

workshop took place in October 2019. Several measures were analysed against that 

committee’s remit. Members agreed a set of performance measures but highlighted that 

these will change over time. Further amendments will be seen once the new Corporate 

Plan is fully developed and approved. 

1.4 The dashboards from the workshops have been presented to committee three times; 19th 

November 2019, 4th February 2020 and 30th June 2020. Members provided feedback on 

their design and content to ensure that the right information is available to support 

effective scrutiny. The dashboards are also now publicly available on the Council’s 

website. 

2 Implications for Environment Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

2.1 As the performance of South Kesteven District Council is included within the remit of the 

Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee, that committee has been the focus of performance work to date. However, 

individual committees are encouraged to examine performance of items within their remit 

in more detail. This presents an opportunity to develop environment specific dashboards. 

2.2 Several suggestions for environment performance measures have been considered which 

can be broken down into three broad groups. 

a. Waste services 

b. Climate change/carbon footprint 

c. Miscellaneous measures (see paragraph 2.7). 

Waste services 

2.3 Suggestions for waste services measures have already been developed into a working 

dashboard. Details of this dashboard are outlined in paragraph 3.1 of this report, and 

appendix 1 shows the data relevant for 2019/20. 

Climate change/carbon footprint 

2.4 A climate change/carbon footprint dashboard is currently in development. This will build on 

the work undertaken by the Climate Change Action Task and Finish Group and the 

Carbon Trust. 

2.5 An initial data gathering exercise took place commencing December 2019 so that the 

Carbon Trust could provide a baseline operational carbon footprint for South Kesteven 

District Council. In addition to this, the exercise also provided officers with an opportunity 

14



 

 
 

to learn how carbon footprint calculations were made and to identify areas for 

improvement in the Council’s data collection process.  

2.6 At the time of writing this report, officers are collecting data relating to carbon usage and a 

further update will be provided to this committee later in 2020. 

Miscellaneous measures 

2.7 Further work is planned to provide the miscellaneous performance measures to this 

Committee. However, as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, progress has slowed. This 

group includes items such as Street Scene complaints/compliments, fly tipping and 

penalty notices issued by enforcement teams.  

3 Performance - 2019/20 Out turn 

3.1 Appendix 1 is the current version of the waste services performance dashboard. This 

incorporates 4 key elements. 

(a) Measures: Key figures agreed by Members. In this context this includes the 

recycling and composting rate. 

(b) Trends: Information to show performance over a period of time, so as to 

understand the impact of Council decisions and actions. This is currently limited 

to April 2019 for historic waste data but will develop with future presentations of 

the dashboard. 

(c) Benchmarks: Comparisons against other authorities or organisations to 

contextualise South Kesteven District Council’s performance. In this dashboard, 

other members of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership are included. 

(d) Implications: Commentary provided by the service to understand what impact 

the performance has on service delivery and any actions put in place as a result. 

3.2 The extract below, taken from the 2018/19 out turn report, is an example of the original 

performance reporting method. CP21 shows the 2018/19 recycling and compost rate. This 

demonstrates the limited information which was previously provided and highlights the 

increased level of detail available to Members on the new dashboard format. 

Current 

RAG 
Performance 

Measure Description 
Frequency 

January 2019 February 2019 March 2019 

Value Target Value Target Value Target 

 

CP21 Percentage of 

household waste sent 

for reuse, recycling 

and composting 

(formerly NI 192) 

Months 41.19% 45.00% 36.92% 45.00% 36.96% 45.00% 

Years     36.96% 45.00% 

 

3.3 The new dashboard in appendix 1 shows provisional recycling figures for 2019/20 which 

indicates an improvement in the districts recycling rate. This has increased from 37% in 

2018/19 to 40.8% in 2019/20. 

3.4 Food waste scheme figures are included on the dashboard, but not explicitly shown. 

Instead they form part of the recycling, reuse and composting rate figure. The food waste 

15



 

 
 

scheme applied to 4,260 households in South Kesteven. In the areas to which the scheme 

applied, domestic residual waste which would otherwise be sent to the Energy from Waste 

plant reduced, and recycling rates increased by approximately 10%. 

4 Financial Implications  

4.1 There are no specific financial implications arising from this report.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance  

5 Legal and Governance Implications  

5.1 As part of good governance, it is important that Members are updated on the ongoing 

transformation of performance management of environmental measures. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Mandy Braithwaite, Legal Executive 

6 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

6.1 There are no issues relating to equality and diversity or safeguarding resulting from this 

report. Any issues that do arise relating to individual items will be addressed as required. 

7 Risk and Mitigation 

7.1 No significant risks have been identified.  

8 Community Safety Implications  

8.1 No significant implications have been identified.  

9 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a ‘climate emergency’? 

9.1 This report outlines steps taken to improve carbon emission monitoring. This oversight is 

fundamental in understanding the Council’s progress towards the target of at least 30% 

reduction in carbon emissions by 2030 and to endeavour to become net-zero carbon as 

soon as viable before 2050. The monitoring tool will also enable officers and Members to 

identify any risks and impediments to achieving that target. 

10 Other Implications (where significant)  

10.1 No other significant implications have been identified.  

11 Background Papers 

11.1 None 

12 Appendices 

Appendix 1 – 2019/20 Waste Performance Dashboard 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

Not Applicable 

Previously Considered by: Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Not Applicable 

Final Decision date   Not Applicable 

 

16



6/12/2020 Page 1

1/1

Waste Collection Composition (Tonnes) by Month

0K

1K

2K

3K

4K

5K

6K

April
2019

May
2019

June
2019

July
2019

August
2019

Septe…
2019

October
2019

Novem…
2019

Decem…
2019

January
2020

February
2020

March
2020

2.9K 3.0K
2.6K 2.6K 2.6K 2.7K

3.1K
2.8K

2.4K

2.9K

2.4K
2.7K

0.8K 0.9K

0.7K
1.1K

0.9K
0.9K

0.8K

0.8K

0.9K

1.2K

0.8K

0.8K

1.0K

1.3K

1.3K

1.4K
1.4K

1.0K

1.9K

0.7K

0.3K

0.3K

0.2K

1.0K

Domestic Residual Waste (Tonnes) - EfW Domestic Recyclable Waste (Tonnes) Garden Waste (Tonnes) - Composted

40.80%
Recycling Re-use & Composting Rate

29.08%
Total Non-Recyclables in Recycling Waste (Based on Samples)

Report Period

All





Proportion of Collected Recycling Waste which is Non-Target Recyclable Materials (Based on Samples) -
used for Refuse Derived Fuel - in Relation to other Local Authorities in the Region

0%

20%

40%

ELDC SHDC CLC BBC SKDC WLDC NKDC

31
.8

4%

31
.0

5%

29
.9

1%

29
.7

5%

29
.0

8%

28
.4

0%

28
.2

3%

Commentary/Implications
The cumulative average recycling, re-use and composting rate for 2019/20 is 40.8% which represents a 
3.8% improvement on 2018/19 – it is still important for Members to continue to champion the ‘reduce, 
re-use and recycle’ message. It should be noted that the residual waste figures for March 2020 are 
provisional as they are yet to be confirmed by LCC and are likely to be fractionally higher than shown 
due to some of SKDC’s residual waste being tipped in Market Deeping for a couple of weeks and 
therefore not being recorded load by load on LCC’s weighbridge system. This is not likely to reduce the 
percentage improvement significantly.
In terms of the total non-recyclable levels based on samples, although 29.08% is higher than we would 
like it to be, this is a county-wide issue and as part of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership we have begun 
a county wide campaign to reduce contamination rates and expect to see the results of this as we 
progress through 2020/21. 
Household waste collected in the black bins or pink bags is sent to the Energy from Waste (EfW) plant at 
North Hykeham where it is used as a fuel to produce electricity. The non-target recyclables in the silver 
bins or clear bags is used as Refuse Derived Fuel (RDF) where it is used directly as fuel, usually at a 
cement works. None of our waste is sent to landfill (except in exceptional circumstances where the EfW 
plant is non-operational).

Waste Performance 2019/20 Reporting Period: Apr 2019 to Mar 2020

17

A
ppendix 1



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

21 July 2020 

Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley 

  Cabinet Member for Commercial 
and Operations 

           

 

South Kesteven District Council Carbon Footprint and 
Reduction Opportunities 

This report provides an overview of progress to date of work undertaken to understand South 
Kesteven District Council’s carbon footprint and possible projects to reduce carbon emissions. 

 

 

Report Author 

Serena Brown, Sustainability and Climate Change Officer 

 
 01476 406125 

  serena.brown@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Agility Non-Key All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Lee Sirdifield, Strategic Director, Transformation and 
Change 

7 July 2020 

Approved by: Gary Smith, Strategic Director, Commercial and 
Operations 

8 July 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for 
Commercial and Operations 

13 July 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Notes the progress to establish and understand South Kesteven District Council’s 
direct contribution to climate change in the form of organisational carbon 
emissions. 

2. Recommends to the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations to develop a 

19

Agenda Item 7

mailto:serena.brown@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting agenda @southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

phased carbon reduction plan and initiate feasibility assessments for priority 
carbon reduction projects outlined in the Carbon Trust’s Carbon Footprint and 
Reduction Opportunities report. 

3. Recommends that the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee provide 
feedback on any specific areas or carbon reduction initiatives the Committee 
would like to see prioritised.  

 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 South Kesteven District Council (the Council) made a formal declaration of ‘climate 

emergency’ on 26th September 2019 with cross party support. Following this, the Climate 

Change Action Task and Finish Group was established in October 2019 to identify how 

the Council’s activities can work towards being net-zero carbon. The Carbon Trust were 

appointed as specialist consultants to work with the Council to establish a baseline carbon 

footprint and to make recommendations on carbon reduction projects to pursue in 

November 2019, on the basis of the wealth of work they have carried out with other local 

authorities and knowledge of the sector. 

1.2 The Carbon Trust hosted an introductory session in December 2019 with Members and 

Officers to confirm the scope of work and determine sources of data needed in order to 

compile the Council’s carbon footprint. Officers identified various data sources required 

from the 2018/19 financial year. The scope of the Council’s carbon footprint is set out on 

page 11 of the Carbon footprint and reduction opportunities full report (Appendix 1). 

1.3 A workshop attended by Members and officers was hosted in February 2020, setting out 

the Council’s provisional carbon footprint based on data provided. The Carbon Trust 

undertook site visits to Council owned buildings, on the same date, to greater understand 

opportunities to integrate energy savings. 

1.4 Supplementary data relating to energy, the Council’s vehicle fleet and travel was provided 

to the Carbon Trust, as requested, to better identify carbon reduction projects and follow 

up phone interviews with relevant officers were completed in May 2020 to finalise the 

report detailing full carbon footprint and proposed carbon reduction projects. The final 

report was presented to members of the Climate Change Action Task and Finish group on 

16th June 2020 and is included within Appendix 1.   

1.5 Work is being undertaken to develop a phased approach to outlined projects 

recommended in the full report (Appendix 1), in collaboration with relevant stakeholders. In 

the first instance (Phase 1), carbon reduction elements will be integrated, where possible, 

into projects that are already underway. Phase 2 specifies projects that have the potential 

to be instigated within the next 18 months, but require more detailed feasibility 

assessments or the development of a business case. Phase 3 specifies medium term 

projects to be investigated within the next 5 years. Phase 4 includes longer term projects 

to be thoroughly explored, with an aim to implement in line with carbon reduction targets 

before 2030. Updates on the project timeline will be shared with the Environment 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee as work develops. 

20



 

 
 

 

 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee has inputted heavily to the 

development of the Council’s approach to climate change over the last year or so. This 

has included various recommendations and several climate change workshops. 

2.2 The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee has received various updates from 

the work of the Climate Change Action Task and Finish Group which it oversees including 

on the 25 February 2020 (item 8) and 26 November 2019 (item 27). 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 This report outlines the expected carbon emission reductions from a ‘do nothing’ business 

as usual scenario, set detailed on page 18 of the Carbon Footprint and Reduction 

Opportunities Report attached at Appendix 1, which derive from more renewable energy 

being used in the national supply of electricity. It is expected that by 2030 the Council’s 

carbon footprint would reduce by 1,087 tCO2e, leaving a gap to the 30% reduction target 

of 1,193 tCO2e.  

3.2 The Council could seek further advice on the scope and detail of its carbon footprint 

before pursuing projects to reduce carbon emissions. This would slow any operational 

changes or projects to reduce carbon emissions and make year on year reductions more 

difficult. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 To develop a phased carbon reduction plan which seeks to prioritise the projects that best 

align with wider Council plans and represent the best return on investment, this may also 

include some ‘quick(er) wins’ to reduce carbon emissions previously considered by the 

Committee on 25 February 2020 (item 8).  As part of this, the Council will undertake 

further feasibility assessments to investigate the carbon reduction projects, as outlined in 

the Report at Appendix 1. 

21

http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=3826&Ver=4
http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=3785&Ver=4


 

 
 

4.2 Wherever possible, the Council will seek to integrate carbon reduction measures into 

existing Council projects. In total, the report includes carbon reduction projects that, when 

completed in full, are estimated to have a 37% reduction on the Council’s carbon footprint. 

Taking no or limited action in the first part of this decade is likely to make cumulative year 

on year carbon reduction difficult. Each project will need to be individually costed to 

consider initial financial outlay, return on investment and expected reduction in carbon 

emissions.  

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 Taking no action to reduce carbon emissions is likely to lead the Council into missing its 

target to reduce its carbon footprint by at least 30% by 2030.  

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 The Carbon Trust’s report has been considered by the Climate Change Action Task and 

Finish Group on 16th June 2020, and no significant issues were raised with the content of 

the report or the total carbon footprint.  The intention now is to develop a phased carbon 

reduction plan and to identify priority areas for further viability assessments. 

6.2 Action on the Council’s own operational carbon footprint will provide a strong platform for 

its wider community leadership role to promote carbon reduction by residents, businesses, 

other public sector organisations and visitors/commuters. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The financial impact of any of the initiatives proposed will need to be assessed ensuring 

that value for money is integrated into the decision making and prioritisation where 

possible and relevant.  The Medium-Term Financial Plan will need to incorporate the 

proposals where expenditure is necessary, be it from a capital or revenue perspective.   

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

8 Legal and Governance Implications      

8.1 There are no specific legal or governance implications at this stage. However, this may 
change if, as a consequence of declaring a climate emergency, the Council seeks to 
implement policies or other such documents. There could be matters arising which must 
be assessed further, and in more detail at that time. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shelley Hardy – Legal Services 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 There are no specific equality or safeguarding implications at this stage, but this will be 

kept under review. As individual carbon reduction projects develop, analysis of impact on 

a case by case basis will be carried out. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 There are significant risks over the next couple of decades, including increasing the cost 

of energy use, difficulties in carrying out Council operations and health and wellbeing 

threats from extreme weather events, if the Council does not take appropriate action to 

reduce and mitigate the impact of climate change, including the contributions of the 

Council’s own operational carbon emissions. Central Government‘s policy on carbon 

reduction and the related regulatory or incentivisation mechanisms will evolve over time 

22



 

 
 

and the Council should ensure it is proactive with its adaptations and changes, including 

moving away from fossil fuel powered systems, to place the Council in a good position. 

 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 No implications identified. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 A finalised carbon footprint is a fundamental step to be able to make informed decisions 

around which carbon reduction projects to pursue in order to meet the Council’s carbon 

reduction targets of at least 30% by 2030. 

13 Background Papers 

13.1  (Appendix 1) Carbon footprint and reduction opportunities report authored by the Carbon 

Trust for South Kesteven District Council. 

13.2  26 September 2019 – link : http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/s23971/2019-9-26%20-

%20Council%20Climate%20Emergency%20Report.pdf    

http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/g3802/Printed%20minutes%2026th-Sep-

2019%2013.00%20Council.pdf?T=1    

13.3    26 November 2019 (item 27) - http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=3785  

13.4 25 February 2020 (item 8) - http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=3826  

 

 

 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

Not applicable 

Final Decision date   To be confirmed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

23

http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/s23971/2019-9-26%20-%20Council%20Climate%20Emergency%20Report.pdf
http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/s23971/2019-9-26%20-%20Council%20Climate%20Emergency%20Report.pdf
http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/g3802/Printed%20minutes%2026th-Sep-2019%2013.00%20Council.pdf?T=1
http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/g3802/Printed%20minutes%2026th-Sep-2019%2013.00%20Council.pdf?T=1
http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=3785&Ver=4
http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=3785
http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=3826&Ver=4
http://moderngovsvr:8080/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=3826


This page is intentionally left blank



South Kesteven
District Council

Final report 

June 2020

Carbon footprint and reduction opportunities

25

A
ppendix 1



Growing acknowledgement of the latest science and recommendations from the Committee on Climate Change has
resulted in unprecedented recognition of the global climate emergency, and the need to act urgently in order to reduce
carbon emissions to limit further global warming and associated environmental impacts. Global initiatives are now
focused on limiting warming to well below 2oC, aligning to the pledges outlined in the Paris Agreement. Despite this,
warming continues, with the impacts being felt both nationally and internationally. Across the UK, continued warming is
projected to make winters warmer and summers hotter and drier. Sea levels will also continue to rise and threaten
many coastal communities across the country. Many industrial and farming processes will also be affected by a
continuation of rising temperatures, exacerbating impacts that warming will have on communities across the UK.

In 2019, the UK Government set a target of achieving net zero emissions by 2050 and many local authorities across the
UK declared a climate emergency. The declaration of a climate emergency recognises firstly the crucial role that local
authorities can play in helping to reduce both the causes and impacts of climate change, but it also provides local
authorities with the opportunity to develop effective pathways towards reducing their emissions, which if successfully
achieved, will help to reduce the climate impacts at both the local and national scale.

South Kesteven District Council recognises the significant role it can play in helping to accelerate the national transition
towards developing a low carbon economy, and declared a Climate Emergency in 2019. This report was commissioned by
the Council to help achieve the carbon reduction targets set out in its’ declaration.

Context to this report

1

26



Contents

Executive Summary 3

Section 1: Council target 8

Section 2: Carbon footprint 9

Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities 19

Section 4: Governance and engagement 38

Section 5: Monitoring and reporting 40

Appendices 42

2

27



Executive summary

• This Carbon Reduction Action Plan forms a key step in South Kesteven District
Council’s (SKDC) climate emergency response and sets out a number of
strategic actions that SKDC should work towards in order to achieve their
carbon reduction target. SKDC declared a climate emergency in September
2019, pledging to reduce the organisation’s carbon footprint by at least 30% by
2030 and endeavouring to become net-zero carbon as soon as viable before
2050.

• Achieving the 2030 target will reduce emissions from 7,600 tCO2e in 2018/2019
to a minimum of 5,320 tCO2e in 2030. Moving towards this ambition illustrates
SKDC’s recognition of the wider climate emergency we are all facing, whilst
showing the Council’s local leadership role towards climate change action.

• This action plan suggests a number of projects that, alongside the expected
decarbonisation of the national electricity grid, will contribute to achieving this
carbon reduction target.

Executive Summary

Scope 1
• Gas consumption for space and water heating in buildings
• Council fleet fuel consumption

Scope 2 • Electricity consumption in buildings

Scope 3

• Energy, waste & water consumption from leased buildings (i.e. leisure centres)
• Upstream emissions from natural gas, vehicle fuel & electricity
• Business travel in non-Council fleet vehicles
• Third-party disposal and treatment of waste generated in Council-controlled operations
• Supply and subsequent treatment of water consumed by the Council’s operations

Overview of the World Resource Institutes GHG Protocol accounting methodology

3

Emissions included within the carbon 
footprint and targeted with projects:

28



Executive summary

Leased Buildings
41.5%

Fleet
25.2%

Gas
17.7%

Electricity
14.1%

Business Travel
1.3%

Water
< 1.0 %

Waste
< 1.0 %

Refrigerants
< 1.0 %

% of total emissions

0.0

1000.0

2000.0

3000.0

4000.0

Business
Travel

Electricity Fleet Gas Leased
Buildings

Waste Water Refrigerants

Emissions by scope / tCO2e

Sum of Scope 1

Sum of Scope 2

Sum of Scope 3

Carbon footprint overview

SKDC emissions by source

SKDC emissions by source and scope.

South Kesteven District Council’s footprint for the FY 2018/19 was calculated to be

7,600 tCO2e
Four key emission categories make up 98.5% of the total footprint:

1. Fuel consumption in the Council’s fleet (1,918 tCO2e)

2. Gas consumption in buildings (1,344 tCO2e)

3. Electricity consumption in buildings (1,072 tCO2e)

4. Leased assets (leisure centres) (3,157 tCO2e)

7,600 
tCO2e

• The carbon reduction target set by the Council contains all of
the stated emission categories here, including emissions
from sites/assets outside of the Council’s direct operational
control (scope 3 emissions)

• Scope 3 emissions make up 51% of the total footprint. The
Council will therefore have to integrate carbon management
into its’ interactions with contractors and operators to
achieve its’ decarbonisation targets, as well as focusing on
the assets under direct operational control.

N.B. For the FY 18/19 footprint, ‘Leased Buildings’  is entirely made up of leisure 
centres owned by the Council & operated by a third party. 4

29



Executive summary

Carbon reduction opportunities overview

To achieve the emission reduction target of at least 30% by 2030, the Council needs to reduce scope 1, 2 and selected scope 3 emissions by approximately
190 tCO2e /year (average annual reduction from 100% down to 70%). The following target areas have been identified across the council, and relevant
reduction opportunities identified for each. These projects will assist SKDC on the pathway towards the goal:

• The projects identified in this plan have the potential to reduce SKDC emissions from 7,600 tCO2e/year to 4,763 tCO2e/year by 2030. This equates to an estimated
total reduction of 37% from the current 2018/19 footprint.

• The total cost to implement the above projects is estimated to be £3.3m, not including any costs associated with improvements required to decarbonise the Leisure 
Centres. All projects require further detailed assessment and in particular, those related to HRA assets and Leisure Centres currently based on high level remotely 
assessed information and benchmarks only.  

Streetlighting - Upgrading all streetlighting under SKDCs control to LED and introducing advanced controls 

HRA Assets - Conducting feasibility assessments of the potential for LED upgrades and electrification of heating systems  

Fleet Management - Roll out of regular driver training and comprehensive telematics  

Fleet Electrification - Electrifying appropriate vehicles within SKDCs large fleet

Leisure Centres - Conducting feasibility assessments of the potential for energy efficiency and renewable energy measures 

St Peters Hill - Roll out of energy efficiency and renewable energy measures  

Guildhall - Roll out of energy efficiency and renewable energy measures

Stamford Arts Centre - Roll out of energy efficiency measures

5

30



Executive summary

R1 – St Peters Hill measures
R2 – Guildhall measures 

R3 – Fleet management measures
R4 – HRA measures

R5 – Stamford Arts Centre Measures
R6 – Streetlighting measures

R7 – Fleet Electrification measures 
R8 – Leisure Centre measures 

Overview of the Carbon Reduction Pathway

Projection of total SKDC business as usual emissions, the effect of proposed projects and the 30% reduction by 2030 target. 
NB. projected grid decarbonisation is included within the BAU pathway.

4,000

4,500

5,000

5,500

6,000

6,500

7,000

7,500

8,000

Emissions / tCO2e

R1, R2 R3 R4, R5 R6 R7 R8

6

Projects have been phased from lowest to highest costs in terms of pounds spent per ton of carbon saved (£/tCO2e abated - estimated costs only). In reality, implementation phasing will be 
dependent on a number of factors not yet assessed e.g. available funding, technology maturity, building lease terms etc. 

31



Executive summary

Next Steps

• Building on the analysis and suggestions provided throughout this action plan, it is now important for
SKDC to conduct a further, more detailed feasibility assessment of individual project opportunities. This
will ensure that the council is able to appropriately quantify and take forward more confidentially the
provisional opportunities identified within. Considering the current emission ‘hot spots’ (certain Council
owned buildings, fleet and leisure centres), SKDC should prioritise and coordinate efforts towards these
emissions sources in the first instance, and use the contents of this Carbon Reduction Action Plan for
further iterations of project development.

• The Council should use the initial quantifications (energy, carbon and cost saving potential) provided as
a building block for the development of further detailed business cases going forward. The results within
should be clearly communicated with the limitations to what has been done explained and shared with
key decision makers from across the organisation.

• Putting in place an early immediate plan that builds on the findings of this Carbon Reduction Action Plan
will help to ensure carbon reduction remains a key part of the council’s agenda going forward, whilst
also allowing the necessary budgets and organisational structures to be developed accordingly.

7

32



Section 1: Council target

Section 1: Council Target

The ambition of South Kesteven District Council demonstrates the intention of the Council to act
against the causes and impacts associated with climate change. The Council must now work
towards reducing its footprint in order to achieve this target, building and accelerating on the
emissions reductions that have previously been achieved throughout the organisation. This Action
Plan therefore details initial actions and key mechanisms required in order to work towards
reducing emission by at least 30% by 2030. It builds on the Carbon reduction plan developed by
SKDC in 2012 and reflects the Council’s newly declared climate commitments, progress and latest
developments.

The first step in developing the action plan is establishing an up-to-date carbon baseline,
particularly as some of this data has not been collected previously for SKDC. This provides the
reference from which to start form and a full analysis of the current emissions present, their
magnitude and who is responsible for them.

Scope 1
• Natural Gas
• Fleet

Scope 2 • Electricity

Scope 3

• Water
• Operational Waste
• Business Travel
• Leased assets

Table 1: Footprint boundary for South Kesteven 
District Council’s 2030 carbon neutral target

South Kesteven District Council has set a target of reducing its carbon footprint by at least 30% by 2030, as well as endeavouring to become net-zero 
carbon as soon as viable before 2050. This target covers those emission sources that are under both direct and indirect control of the Council (Table 1). 

8

33



Section 2: Carbon footprint

Section 2: Carbon footprint

This section provides an inventory of SKDC’s greenhouse gas emissions for the financial 
year 2018/19 – the ‘baseline’ against which future progress will be evaluated.

Scope

SKDC’s footprint has been calculated according to the World Resources Institute (WRI) 
Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocol, and aligns to the following accounting definitions: 

• Direct GHG emissions are emissions from sources that are owned or controlled by 
the reporting entity

• Indirect GHG emissions are emissions that are a consequence of the activities of 
the reporting entity, but occur at sources owned or controlled by another entity

The GHG Protocol further categorises these direct and indirect organisational emissions 
into three broad scopes (figure 1):

• Scope 1: All direct GHG emissions
• Scope 2: Indirect GHG emissions from consumption of purchased electricity, heat 

or steam.
• Scope 3: Other indirect emissions, such as the extraction and production of 

purchased materials and fuels, transport-related activities in vehicles not owned 
or controlled by the reporting entity, electricity-related activities (e.g. 
Transmission and distribution losses) not covered in Scope 2, outsourced 
activities, waste disposal, etc

Figure 1: Overview of the World Resource Institutes GHG Protocol accounting methodology

9

34



Section 2: Carbon footprint

Carbon Footprint Methodology

General calculation methodology to calculate carbon emissions

In footprinting a common unit of carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e) is 
used, which allows the impact of each of the seven main greenhouse 
gasses to be expressed in terms of the amount of CO2 that would 
create the same amount of warming

Emissions are calculated by multiplying activity data by an emissions 
factor

Calculating a carbon footprint

A carbon footprint is calculated by multiplying activity data (e.g. litres of
vehicle fuel, kWh of electricity/gas) by an associated emissions factor:

• Where possible, real activity data should be collected throughout
the reporting period for use in the footprint calculation.

• Emission factors are updated annually and published by the UK
Government’s department for Business, Energy and Industrial
Strategy (BEIS).

If activity data is not available, various benchmarks and proxies can be
used:

• Benchmarks can be used to approximate activity data. For
example, typical electricity consumption per m2 of a building.

• When input data is scarce, proxy factors can be used in place of
the BEIS factors to approximate emissions from the available
input data (e.g. contract value).

10

35



Section 2: Carbon footprint

Scope of carbon footprint

Scope 1 emissions [S1]:

- Gas consumption, typically space and water 
heating in buildings 

- Council fleet fuel consumption

Scope 2 elements [S2]:

- Electricity consumption in buildings

Scope 3 elements [S3]:

- Business travel in non-Council fleet vehicles

- Third-party disposal and treatment of waste 
generated in Council-controlled operations 

- Supply and subsequent treatment of water 
consumed by the Council’s operations

- Energy, waste & water consumption from 
buildings leased to a 3rd party operator (i.e. 
leisure centres)

- Upstream emissions from natural gas, 
vehicle fuel & electricity

SKDC Footprint FY 18/19

Non-Council 
operations

Leased out 
buildings

Council 
operations

Building 
emissions

Electricity 
consumption

Gas consumption

Waste generation  
& treatment

Water 
consumption

Transportation 
emissions

Council-owned 
fleet

Business mileage

Scope 3

S2 & S3 S1 & S3 S1 & S3 Scope 3

Scope 3 Scope 3

N.B. An explanation of excluded emissions is included in Appendix 1.
11

36



Section 2: Carbon footprint

South Kesteven District Council Footprint FY 18/19

Total emissions [tCO2e]

Scope 1

Natural Gas Fleet

Scope 3

Water Waste
Upstream emissions from 

scope 1 & 2
Business 

travel
Leased 

buildings

7,600

2,735 3,877

1,180 1,553 5 3 99 3,157613

Scope 2

Electricity

988

988

Refrigerant

2

In the 12 month period Apr’ 2018 – Mar’ 2019, 7,600 tCO2e were emitted from the council’s own operations and associated activities

• Scope 1: gas (primarily for heating buildings) and transport fuel consumption in the Council’s own fleet;
• Scope 2: electricity consumption within SKDC buildings used by SKDC staff;
• Scope 3: waste generation, water supply and treatment, business travel (arising from SKDC operated buildings, journeys 

completed by SKDC staff and councillors on behalf of SKDC activities), leased assets, and refrigerants. 

The Council will need to reduce their footprint to at least 5,320 tCO2e by 2030 to achieve their carbon reduction target, representing an 
average annual reduction of 190 tCO2e / year 

12

37



Section 2: Carbon footprint

South Kesteven District Council Footprint FY 2018/19

Scope 1
36.0%

Scope 2
13.0%

Scope 3
51.0%

7,600 
tCO2e

31.2% Emissions associated with electricity and gas consumption in Council-operated buildings 

25.2% Emissions from fuel consumption in the Council’s vehicle fleet make up a quarter of the total footprint

41.5% The majority of emissions come from leased buildings that Council owns but are leased and operated to a third-party.

SKDC’s footprint is primarily made up from four emission categories, so-called emission hotspots:

These emission hotspots should be at the forefront of the Council’s carbon reduction efforts, and are the focus of the 
recommendations made in this report.

Leased Buildings
41.5%

Fleet
25.2%

Gas
17.7%

Electricity
14.1%

Business Travel
1.3%

Water
> 1.0%

Waste
> 1.0%

Refrigerants
> 1.0%

7,600 
tCO2e

N.B. For the FY 18/19 footprint, ‘Leased Buildings’  is entirely made up of leisure centres owned by the Council & operated by a third party. 13

38



Section 2: Carbon footprint

Hotspot 1: Electricity consumption in Council-operated buildings 

334.3
297.7

167.3
52.7

35.9

35.1
29.4

24.1
22.9
21.3

51.5

0.0 50.0 100.0 150.0 200.0 250.0 300.0 350.0 400.0

SKDC Street Lighting
HRA Assets

Grantham Main Offices
Grantham Arts Centre

Bourne  Corn Exchange
Stamford Arts Centre

Bourne CAP
Grantham Depot

Isaac Newton Centre Car Park
Welham St. Car Park

Other

Emissions [tCO2e]

Across all scopes, electricity consumption from assets operated by 

the Council accounts for 14.1% (1072 tCO2e) of the 

overall footprint.

In 2018/19, the Council consumed 3,489,764 kWh of electricity in its operated buildings. These emissions calculated for electricity 
generation are associated with the generation, and transmission and distribution of electricity.

First and foremost, this should be reduced through energy efficiency measures. However the emission factor for purchased electricity is 
reducing as conventional power generation from coal and gas is replaced by low-carbon generation (e.g. from renewables and nuclear). 
This will result in reduced emissions, even during a business as usual approach. 

As the carbon intensity of electricity reduces it will become more beneficial in terms of emissions to use electricity as a fuel in the place 
of gas, diesel etc. This electrification of heating and transport sectors will likely cause this electricity consumption to increase by 2030. 

14

39



Section 2: Carbon footprint

Hotspot 2: Gas consumption in Council-operated buildings 

830.9

205.6

86.3

74.6

55.5

40.6

26.4

15.0

6.3
3.1

0.0100.0200.0300.0400.0500.0600.0700.0800.0900.0

HRA Assets

Grantham Main Offices

Grantham Arts Centre
Grantham Depot

Bourne Corn Exchange

Stamford Arts Centre

Bourne CAP

Bus Station - Grantham

Council Offices  - Stamford

EnvSK Offices

Emissions [tCO2e]

1,344 tCO2e were emitted from the use of gas to heat 

Council operated buildings….

…..equating to 17.7 % of the overall footprint

Gas is required for space and water heating in buildings. The Council consumed 6,415,665 kWh of gas in the financial year, 
61.8% of which was in Housing Revenue Account (HRA) assets. 

As the national grid decarbonises, it is recommended that heat sources are electrified where possible (e.g. through the 
installation of heat pumps). The Council should consider electric heating for all new-builds with high energy performance. 

For existing buildings, where possible a fabric first approach should be taken and retrofit actions should be performed to 
reduce heat loss and drafts before electrification (see appendix 2 for further explanation). 

15

40



Section 2: Carbon footprint

Hotspot 3: Council vehicle fleet 

1,003

356

219

185

67

49

19

9

12

0.0 200.0 400.0 600.0 800.0 1000.0 1200.0

Waste Management

Street Cleaning

Green Waste

Responsive Repairs

EnvironmentSK

Unspecified

Pool Cars

Tenancy and Neighbourhoods

Other

Emissions [tCO2e]

Across all scopes, emissions from the Council’s fleet were calculated to be 

1919 tCO2e

The waste management fleet accounts for 52.3% of vehicle emissions

The Council own and operate a large fleet of 155 vehicles. EnvironmentSK operate a 
further 25 vehicles, which have been included in this footprint.

23 of the vehicles are large waste management vehicles, which account for 52.3% 
of total fleet emissions due to their size and high mileage. 

The majority of vehicles (176) are diesel powered, the remainder are petrol (2) and 
electric (2). The common decarbonisation pathway for transport is electrification, 
and the share of electric vehicles in the Council’s fleet will have to grow to achieve 
decarbonisation targets. The roll-out of infrastructure (e.g. charging points) will be 
necessary to support this roll out. 

16

41



Section 2: Carbon footprint

Hotspot 4: Energy use in leased buildings – leisure centres

107.0

91.7

288.4

201.5

393.4

419.5

948.0

705.1

0.36

0.36

0.42

0.90

0.0200.0400.0600.0800.01000.01200.01400.0

Stamford Leisure Centre

Bourne Leisure Centre

Deepings Leisure Centre

Grantham Leisure Centre

Emissions [tCO2e] Electricity Gas Fuel oil Waste

The Council own and lease four leisure centres (LC) to a third-party operator. The 
operation of leisure centres is inherently energy intensive, and accounts for 41.5% of the 
Councils total footprint.

Plans for new LCs in the District present an opportunity to significantly reduce the 
Council’s emissions, and best-practice energy efficiency design should be mandated for 
any new centre. 

For the existing centres, illustrative potential energy reduction has been presented to 
show the types of reductions that would be required at these sites for SKDC to meet its 
carbon reduction goal (see section 3)

Total leisure centre emissions: 3,157 tCO2e 
17

42



Section 2: Carbon footprint

2030 Carbon reduction target

• South Kesteven District Council are targeting at least a 30%
reduction by 2030 for their scope 1, 2 and selected scope 3
emissions from a baseline of 7,600 tCO2e.

• The carbon intensity of the UK’s electricity supply is
reducing as renewable generation (e.g. wind, solar) is
replacing traditional fossil fuels (e.g. coal, natural gas).
Therefore, if the council were to maintain a business as
usual (BAU) case, where energy consumption remains
constant, electricity emissions will still decrease as a result
of this background electricity grid decarbonisation.

In a ‘do nothing’ scenario, SKDC’s grid supplied electricity 
emissions are expected to reduce by 1,087 tCO2e as a result 

of greener electricity from the national grid.

• Beyond this, a further 1,193 tCO2e reduction would be
needed to achieve at least a 30% carbon reduction, or 5,320
tCO2e annual emissions in 2030

• The BAU scenario assumes that the Council’s operations,
number of buildings and estate does not change from the
baseline year 2018/19 in subsequent years.

Projection of total SKDC business as usual emissions (including grid decarbonisation), the Council’s 
2030 carbon reduction target and the associated gap to target 

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030

Emissions [tCO2e]

Gap to target Emissions not included in target BAU pathway 30% reduction target

5,320

1,193

18

43



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

Section 3: Carbon Reduction Opportunities

• The following section details several opportunities for carbon emission savings that SKDC should prioritise for implementation. Background
information and assumptions behind calculations can be found in Appendix 2.

• By setting a minimum 30% target from a baseline of 7,600 tCO2e/year in 2018/19, an average 190 tCO2e will need to be saved each year across
the scope 1,2 and selected 3 emission sources included in the Council’s 2030 baseline. Eight overarching areas have been quantified in terms of
energy, carbon and cost saving potential. These projects cover emissions ‘hot spots’ and relate to:

Streetlighting - Upgrading all streetlighting under SKDCs control to LED and introducing advanced controls 

HRA Assets - Conducting feasibility assessments on the potential for LED upgrades and electrification of heating systems  

Fleet Management - Roll out of regular driver training and comprehensive telematics  

Fleet Electrification - Electrifying appropriate vehicles within SKDCs large fleet

Leisure Centres - Conducting feasibility assessments of the potential for energy efficiency and renewable energy measures 

St Peters Hill - Roll out of energy efficiency and renewable energy measures  

Guildhall - Roll out of energy efficiency and renewable energy measures

Stamford Arts - Roll out of energy efficiency measures

19

44



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

2030 Carbon Reduction Pathway

Projects have been phased out from lowest – highest costs in terms of pounds spent per ton of carbon saved (£/tCO2e abated estimated costs only). In reality, 
these projects would be appropriately phased out over a prolonged project timeline and dependent on a number of factors not assessed here e.g. available funding 

• Based on the potential projects and associated 
carbon reduction above, alongside the expected 
decarbonisation of the national electricity grid, 
the council’s footprint in 2030 could be reduced 
to 4,763 tCO2e/year. This equates to a total 
reduction of 37 % from the current 2018/19 
footprint of 7,600 tCO2e/year.

• Indicative staged project implementation of the 8 
priority project areas and the associated 
decarbonisation pathway from the 18/19 baseline 
can be seen in Figure 2.

• The overall cost of achieving the reductions is 
currently estimated at £3.3million. This doesn't 
include the decarbonisation of energy 
consumption in leisure centres, which will drive 
up the cost significantly where the SKDC bears 
such improvement and upgrade costs.

Figure 2: Projection of the total SKDC business as usual emissions (incl. grid decarbonisation), the effect of proposed 
projects and the carbon neutral target

R1 – St Peters Hill measures
R2 – Guildhall measures
R3 – Fleet management measures
R4 – HRA measures

R5 – Stamford Arts Centre measures
R6 – Streetlighting measures
R7 – Fleet measures
R8 – Leisure Centre measures 

4,000

4,500

5,000

5,500

6,000

6,500

7,000

7,500

8,000
Emissions / tCO2e Net Emissions: Target BAU

R1, R2 R3 R4, R5 R6 R7 R8

20

45



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

2030 Carbon Reduction Pathway - Projects

• In consultation with the Council, projects have been phased according to the estimated cost per tonne of carbon dioxide abated 
(CAPEX £/tCO2e), with the most cost efficient projects deployed first.

• The costs and emissions provided in this report are estimates, and the order (CAPEX / tCO2e) may be subject to change when actual 
quotes are received as the projects progress.

Estimated CAPEX
GBP

Annual emissions saving
tCO2e

£ / tCO2e
Annual cost saving

GBP
Payback

Years

St Peters Hill measures 265,000 193 1,376 18,344 14.4

Guildhall measures 116,200 81 1,431 9,258 12.6

Fleet management 468,000 286 1,636 110,283 4.2

HRA measures 280,000 165 1,702 16,977 16.5

Stamford Arts Centre 
measures

18,000 9 2,006 3,583 5.0

Streetlighting 718,600 199 3,615 62,769 11.4

Fleet electrification 1,464,000 146 10,055 57,706 25.4

Leisure Centre 
measures

TBC 840 TBC 147,396 TBC

21

46



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

SKDC has responsibility for 3,593 street lights across the district. The majority of lights are 35W (or 36W) low pressure sodium lamps. No information has been
received regarding their state of repair (or column upgrade needs). Conservative energy savings of 40% are assumed achievable by upgrading all lamps to
appropriate LED alternatives. Additional savings will also be possible through implementing “control” savings such as dimming and/or trimming. Beyond energy and
carbon savings, SKDC would also benefit from reduced maintenance and lamp replacement lifecycle costs facilitated by the additional burn hours that LED
alternatives bring over traditional streetlights.

Illustrative energy and cost savings for a full LED upgrade with 50% dimming between 00:00-06:00 are detailed below. Maintenance savings and potential savings
through centralised management or trimming have not been included. A full detailed feasibility assessment should be conducted to ascertain more accurate costs
and savings before moving forward with these measures. Funding support may be available through Salix (https://www.salixfinance.co.uk/loans/street-lighting).

Street Lighting Reduction Opportunities

Streetlighting Upgrades 
• LED upgrade of 3,593 existing low pressure sodium 35W lamps
• Running circuit wattage with charging load equates to 58W power 

requirement  
• LED alternative would draw 35W (no circuit loss) and is dimmed by 50% 

between 00:00-06:00 
• 199 tCO2/ year 1 estimated saving
• £718,600 estimated capital cost (£200/lamp inc. installation)
• 569,282 kWh/year saving 
• £62,769/year cost saving (@ 11p/kWh) 

• Further assumptions and info can be found in Appendix 3. 

22

47

https://www.salixfinance.co.uk/loans/street-lighting


Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

HRA Carbon Reduction Opportunities

Electricity and gas consumption at HRA assets creates 1,169 tCO2e of emissions equating to approximately 15% of the baseline (including upstream emissions).
• The majority of the emissions arise from ~4 GWh of gas consumption (80% of carbon emissions from HRA assets)
• ~1GWh of electricity is also consumed (20% of carbon emission from HRA assets)
Limited information has been received about the breakdown of energy consumption, number of sites, technologies, etc. therefore assumptions have been made.
Table 2 provides an indication of where energy is consumed. Water heating (i.e. non space heating) and “other” electrical energy (plug points, lifts etc.) have been
assumed. It is also assumed that 100% of the energy consumption is associated with communal areas. SKDC should gather a detailed list of sites, disaggregated
energy consumption readings and associated M+E equipment to move forward with understanding the potential for carbon reduction of HRA assets.
For illustrative purposes however, the savings from an upgrade of 50% of the lighting to LED and electrification of 25% of the gas use is presented (and included
nominally within this action plan). These figures should however be updated using calculations based on actual figures in future iterations of this plan. Further
assumptions can be found in Appendix 3.

LED lighting upgrade
• Upgrade 50% of existing fittings to LED units
• 36 tCO2/year saving
• 102,235 kWh/year saving
• £12,268/year cost saving
• £80,000 nominal cost

Electrify heating system
• Electrification of 25% of gas consumption 
• 129 tCO2/year saving
• 745,587 kWh/year saving
• £4,709/year cost saving
• £200,000 nominal cost

Demand profile kWh % of use tCO2

Communal Heating - Electric 401,010 8.1% 140

Communal Lighting - Electric 511,174 10.4% 178

Communal - Electric Other 56,797 1.2% 20

Space Heating – Gas 3,767,175 76.3% 789

Water Heating – Gas 198,272 4.0% 42

TOTAL 4,934,428 100% 1,169

Table 2: Demand profile breakdown 

23

48



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

HRA Hotspots

The Council’s HRA assets include 32 General Needs Blocks, 22 Sheltered Houses, and 14 Community Centres. Actions related to these assets should be prioritised by 
assessing performance relative to the overall stock, and a benchmarking exercise should be undertaken to identify the worst performing assets. The exercise should be 
sensitive to the typical use of the buildings, floor area, number of inhabitants etc.

A preliminary benchmarking exercise has been performed based on data made available by SKDC. For General Needs Blocks & Sheltered Housing, benchmarking was 
performed on a kWh/flat/Yr basis. This exercise should be extended by the Council to account for other factors that exist but where data was not available for this report 
(e.g. SKDC boundaries of responsibility, floor area, typical use).  As seen below, potential carbon reduction focus areas would be on high gas consumers such as Woods Close 
and Manners Street to better understand reasons for apparently poor energy performance. These sites could be targeted for heat electrification pilot projects (e.g. heat 
pumps). Please note that this data was provided retrospectively, and does not relate to the financial data utilised for the initial footprint.  

0 5,000 10,000 15,000 20,000 25,000

Archers Way

Angel Court

Thames Road

Woods Close

Church View

Emlyns Gardens

Witham Place

Stanton Close

Rectory Close

Almond Court

Manners Street

Hillary Close

Riverside

Meadow Close

Sheltered Housing. Relative consumption kWh / flat / Yr
Gas Electricity

24

49



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

HRA Hotspots

Community centres have 
been assessed on an 
absolute basis as data for 
suitable benchmarks (e.g. 
floor area) was not 
available. In the absence of 
any generally acceptable  
data, a qualitative review of 
the building’s use, 
operating hours etc. should 
be performed to identify 
poor performers. Bancroft 
Lodge, Tenter Court and 
Edmonds Close should be 
investigated as a priority to 
understand reasons for 
relatively high gas 
consumption and potential 
options for efficiency 
improvements and/or low 
carbon heat sources such 
as heat pumps.

0 50,000 100,000 150,000 200,000 250,000 300,000 350,000

Tenter Court

Edmonds Close

St Martins Close

Benedict Court

Clare Close

Central Place

Greyfriars

Belton Avenue

Centerbury Close

Sandon Close

St Nicholas Close

Sherwood Rise

St Clements

Community Centres. Absolute consumption kWh / Yr
Gas Electricity

0 2,000 4,000 6,000 8,000 10,000 12,000 14,000 16,000 18,000

Bancroft Lodge

Manor Lane

Station Road

Commercial Road

Larch Close

Shillaker Court

Sycamore Court

Agnes Street

Tenter Court

Owen Court

Kinoulton Court

General Needs Blocks. Relative consumption kWh / flat / Yr
Electricity Gas

25

50



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

Driver style has a big impact on fleet fuel efficiency and driver training can reduce fuel consumption and emissions, as well as maintenance costs and risks of 
accidents. Typically training can save around 6-7% (6.5%* has been assumed for our calculations). Sustaining these savings is challenging, but we have assumed that 
all drivers of fleet vehicles attend the training twice between 2021 and 2030.

Telematics systems including GPS tracking are a useful fleet management tool, providing drivers with live feedback and guidance on driving behaviour as well as 
providing more accurate tracking of fuel consumption and costs. Research suggests that fleets could save 9% in fuel savings by switching to telematics**.  

Using telematics to monitor fuel consumption and driver behaviour can be used to tailor driver training initiatives. Additionally, the use of telematics to determine 
vehicle performance and maintenance schedules reduces the time a vehicle is running inefficiently

Fleet vehicle management Carbon Reduction Opportunities

Driver training – regular training course for all vehicle operators
• 125 tCO2/year saving
• £36,000 estimated cost 
• £48,000 saving (difference between current fuel costs and reduced fuel costs)

Further details, guidance  and background assumptions can be found in Appendix 3.  

*Department of Transport, 2016, Efficient Driving https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/509972/efficient-driving-rapid-evidence-assessment.pdf
**Fleetworld, 2018, Telematics could offer 9% fuel savings to fleetshttps://fleetworld.co.uk/telematics-offer-9-fuel-savings-to-fleets/

Comprehensive telematics 
• 161 tCO2/year saving
• £432k estimated cost (over the next 10 years = £20/month/vehicle)
• £62,221 saving/year (difference between current fuel costs and reduced fuel costs)

26

51

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/509972/efficient-driving-rapid-evidence-assessment.pdf
https://fleetworld.co.uk/telematics-offer-9-fuel-savings-to-fleets/


Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

The current fleet operated by South Kesteven District Council consists of 180 vehicles, the majority of which are diesel fuelled. The Council operate three small electric
vehicles. Electrification of the fleet would lead to significant carbon reduction. To quantify this opportunity, it is has been assumed that all “Responsive Repairs”
vehicles (totalling 48 currently diesel vehicles) will be replaced by comparable electric vehicles (EVs) from 2026 and that mileage will remain constant. Rollout could
start prior to 2026, if suitable comparable vehicles are available.

Currently the majority of fleet is owned by the Council and not operated on a lease basis. The estimated capital costs below show two procurement alternatives 1)
outright ownership and 2) leased. The cost of electric vehicle charging points and supporting infrastructure is included in the costs.

Deep electrification of the fleet is not immediately viable for SKDC; the nature of the district requires long rural journeys, and a significant proportion of the fleet is
stored remotely at operators’ home addresses. For vehicles less suited to electrification in the short-term (e.g. refuse collection vehicles), biofuels or hybrid cars are
an effective way of decarbonising fleet emissions. For 2019, emissions associated with biodiesel and plug-in hybrids were ~99% and 35% lower than conventional
diesel respectively. With the current constraints & maturity of large EV technology the Council should assess the suitability of biofuel and hybrid solutions in the short-
medium term, whilst closely monitoring the costs and maturity of the EV market, particularly for larger vehicles. Where and when the circumstances allow, the Council
should prioritise wholly-electric vehicles.

Fleet vehicle electrification Carbon Reduction Opportunities

Fleet electrification
• Full electrification of council fleet of vehicles and installation of 

charging points
• 146 tCO2/year saving
• Capital Costs

• a) £1.46m estimated cost (outright purchase x48 vehicles)

• b) £168k estimated cost (annual lease costs x48 vehicles)

• £57,700/year cost saving (difference between electricity and diesel running costs)

Further details, guidance and background assumptions can be found in Appendix 3.  27

52



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

The emissions associated with SKDCs four Leisure centres represent the single largest source of emission within the measured baseline. This equates to
approximately 41.5% of the total 7,600tCO2e in 2018/19. Emissions raising from SKDC leisure are deemed to be scope 3 emissions due to the operational
“ownership” of those energy sources residing with the management companies who run the centres. As such these emissions are deemed “downstream leased
assets” according to the GHG protocol. The management of their energy consumption is outside of SKDC’s direct sphere of influence. Nonetheless SKDC has chosen
to incorporate the associated emission within the chosen “at least 30%” reduction target by 2030.

An in-depth assessment and prioritisation of energy reductions potential should be conducted at all leisure centres to update the potential carbon emission
reduction within this plan. This will require planning and liaison with the management companies and alignment with future development plans.

A few simple energy efficiency measures can reduce energy consumption however. Although specific measures for reducing energy consumption should be
identified through more detailed assessment:

Leisure centre Carbon Reduction Opportunities

• Maintaining air and water temperatures of
swimming pools within (CIBSE1)
recommended temperatures

• Regularly cleaning of swimming pool filters

• Installing pool covers for when pools are
not in use

• Explore renewable energy heat source
potential

• Switching off fitness machines during quieter times
and overnight

• Installing the most efficient exercise equipment
available

• Roll out of LED lights across all areas

• Comprehensive monitoring and targeting of energy
use through appropriate energy management system

Further details can be found in appendix 3. 281Chartered Institute of Building Service Engineers

53



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

To provide an illustrative yet practical reduction from leisure centres within this action plan the following has been assumed:
• An improvement in the kWh/m2 of 20% for Grantham and Bourne Leisure centres (currently DEC rating C and D respectively)
• An improvement of 45% for Stamford leisure centre (currently DEC rating F)
• A fuel switch from oil based heating to gas and an overall improvement of 20% of kWh/m2 for Deeping Leisure.

Nominal carbon savings equate to 840tCO2e / year and almost £150k in cost savings. Capital costs are impossible to estimate at this stage.

Further details can be found in appendix 3.

Leisure centre Carbon Reduction Opportunities

Grantham Leisure centre 
• Existing: 832 kWh/m2

• New: 665 kWh/m2

• 235 tCO2/year saving
• 1,036,104 kWh/year 

saving
• £42,892/year cost 

saving
• £TBC cost

Bourne Leisure centre 
• Existing: 1,208 kWh/m2

• New: 967 kWh/m2

• 105 tCO2/year saving
• 460,092 kWh/year 

saving
• £19,177/year cost 

saving
• £TBC cost

Stamford Leisure centre 
• Existing: 2,114 kWh/m2

• New: 1,163kWh/m2

• 232 tCO2/year saving
• 1,001,581 kWh/year 

saving
• £44,157/year cost 

saving
• £TBC cost

Deeping Leisure centre 
• Existing: 868 kWh/m2

• New: 600 kWh/m2

• 268 tCO2/year saving
• 590,414 kWh/year 

saving
• £41,171/year cost 

saving
• £TBC cost

29

54



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

South Kesteven District Council’s main office (St Peter’s Hill) was built in the 1970s and extended to include SK House in the 1980s. The two buildings were
separated during a refurbishment to SK House in 2018/19, during which upgrades to the plant room and building management system were made. St Peter’s Hill
is currently heated using a series of No.10 boilers (c. 1980s) although some are decommissioned, and less than 10% of lighting is met with high efficient LED
fittings. The building therefore offers significant opportunity for decarbonisation.

In total, the projects identified for St Peter’s Hill have the potential to reduce SKDC’s emissions by 162 tCO2e per year, whilst saving 924,767 kWh and £18,344 
annually at a total capital cost of £265,000. Further details of these projects can be found in Appendix 3. 

St Peter’s Hill Carbon Reduction Opportunities

1. Energy management with aM&T

• Implementation of enhanced energy 
management systems across the site

• 6 tCO2/year saving 

• 20,224 kWh/year electricity saving

• 1,436 GBP/year cost saving 

• £0 capital cost

2. Lighting upgrades

• Upgrade all existing fittings to LED units

• 30 tCO2/year saving 

• 84,499 kWh/year electricity saving

• 9,644 GBP/year cost saving 

• £50,000 capital cost

3. Solar PV installation

• Assessment and installation of Solar PV 
units across the existing roof spaces

• 20 tCO2/year saving 

• 58,020 kWh/year electricity saving

• 6,622 GBP/year cost saving 

• £60,000 capital cost

4a. Upgrade heating system: gas boiler

• Replacement of existing boiler system with 
more efficient gas boilers.

• 51 tCO2/year saving 

• 243,070 kWh/year gas saving

• 5,024 GBP/year cost saving 

• £35,000 capital cost

4b. Upgrade heating system: ASHP

• Electrification of heating system with an 
air source heat pump (ASHP)

• 137 tCO2/year saving 

• 762,024 kWh/year gas saving

• 643 GBP/year cost saving 

• £150,000 capital cost

30

55



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

The Guildhall Arts Centre is located in Grantham, and part of the cultural services provided by the Council. It’s primary purpose is the promotion and offering of
arts’ experiences, however the building is also used by the community for various workshops, meetings, parties etc. The building’s long operating hours make it a
priority case for refurbishment to achieve both decarbonisation and occupier comfort; it’s operation is currently typical for a building of its’ nature (DEC rating of
99).

In total, the projects identified for the Guildhall Arts Centre have the potential to reduce SKDC’s emissions by 81 tCO2e per year, whilst saving 382,704 kWh and
£9,258 annually at a total capital cost of £116,200. Further details of these projects can be found in Appendix 3.

Guildhall Arts Centre Carbon Reduction 
Opportunities

1. Energy management with aM&T

• Implementation of enhanced energy 
management systems across the site

• 3 tCO2/year saving 

• 12,654 kWh/year electricity saving

• 821 GBP/year cost saving 

• £3,000 capital cost

2. Lighting upgrades
• Upgrade all existing fittings to LED units

• 11 tCO2/year saving 

• 12,654 kWh/year electricity saving

• 4,132 GBP/year cost saving 

• £10,000 capital cost

3. Solar PV installation

• Assessment and installation of Solar PV 
units across the existing roof spaces

• 3 tCO2/year saving 

• 9,670 kWh/year electricity saving

• 1,230 GBP/year cost saving 

• £10,000 capital cost

5b. Upgrade heating system: ASHP

• Electrification of heating system with an 
air source heat pump (ASHP)

• 55 tCO2/year saving 

• 305,182 kWh/year gas saving

• 184 GBP/year cost saving 

• £85,000 capital cost

5a. Upgrade heating system: gas boiler

• Replacement of existing boiler system with 
more efficient gas boilers.

• 20 tCO2/year saving 

• 96,846 kWh/year gas saving

• 2,152 GBP/year cost saving 

• £20,000 capital cost

4. Upgrade AHU fans & VSDs

• Upgrade to EC plug fans and variable speed 
control in the air handling units 

• 8 tCO2/year saving 

• 22,714kWh/year electricity saving

• 2,889 GBP/year cost saving 

• £8,200 capital cost

31

56



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

The Stamford Arts Centre is a Grade II listed building. The building forms part of the Council’s cultural offering, and is formed of a 166 seat theatre, a large
ballroom, and several other multi-functional rooms. Each year, the Arts Centre attracts approximately 750,000 visitors. The ballroom has recently been
refurbished with an efficient HVAC system, however much of the building requires supplementary portable electric heaters. The gas-heated sections of the
building are heated using recently installed boilers. Efficient LED lighting is sparsely rolled out in the Centre. The listed status of the Arts Centre restricts many of
the measures that can be deployed, particularly to the external fabric. The measures suggested are sensitive to this practical constraint, and offer a strong
business case for implementation. In the long run, SKDC should commission an internal insulation survey in order to ascertain the possibility of improvements to
heat loss levels through secondary glazing and other internal insulation measures. This will in turn reduce the need for expensive electrically heated portable
systems which are estimated to account for 20% of electrical use on site.

In total, the projects identified for Stamford Arts Centre have the potential to reduce SKDC’s emissions by 9 tCO2e per year, whilst saving 26,231 kWh and £3,583
annually at a total capital cost of £18,000. Further details of these projects can be found in Appendix 3.

Stamford Arts Centre Carbon Reduction 
Opportunities

1. Energy management with aM&T

• Implementation of enhanced energy 
management systems across the site

• 2 tCO2/year saving 

• 7,041 kWh/year electricity saving

• 848 GBP/year cost saving 

• £3,000 capital cost

2. Lighting upgrades

• Upgrade all existing fittings to LED units

• 7 tCO2/year saving 

• 19,190kWh/year electricity saving

• 2,735 GBP/year cost saving 

• £15,000 capital cost

32

57



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

Other Emissions – Grantham Depot and 
other sites Carbon Reduction Opportunities 

SKDC operates a number of smaller sites (in terms of carbon emissions) including the Depot where vehicle and workshop operations are based. The Depot
accounts for approximately 100 tCO2e equating to >1% of overall emissions. A provisional site visit was conducted although full access was not granted and
currently there remains uncertainty around the metering arrangements for the 3 buildings on site. In addition, it has been indicated that the future of the site is in
question and it is likely that SKDC will need to relocate to facilitate more space for vehicles and workshop areas. As such it is not recommended that any
significant investment is made at the Depot until future considerations are taken into account. However there are a number of low cost or “no regret” actions
that should be considered at this site (and others not specifically highlighted) alongside the larger capital investment decisions elsewhere that have been
highlighted above. These primarily concern the treatment of the energy consumption at all sites as a controllable resource by implementing management
procedures such as those outlined below. These have not been quantified in terms of savings but remain important.

Monitoring and reporting:
• Regular collection of energy consumption and cost data

through automatic metering monitoring and targeting
(aM&T) systems

• Analysis of consumption against energy drivers (e.g.
occupancy levels, external temperature), time and utility
bills

• Regular (annual) reporting

Addressing energy waste
• Including suggestions for changes (lights left on, over-heating,

over-cooling, water leaks)
• Job/Priority sheets for reducing energy waste (e.g. repair

leaking/dripping taps)
• Maintenance schedules to include reducing energy wastage
• Operating instructions to include energy use issues (e.g.

nightly shut down procedures). Active reporting systems

Energy policy
• Agreed by senior management
• Communicated to all employees
• Reviewed at least every 3 years
• Quantitative improvement targets.

Appointment of senior staff member with responsibility for
energy and energy champions appointed
• Clear job description & assigned adequate resources for

designated person
• Regular management meetings to review energy use

33

58



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

Other Emissions – Business travel 
Carbon Reduction Opportunities

The emissions associated with business travel on behalf of SKDC currently total 99 tCO2e. Whilst proportionally and in terms of prioritisation, there are more
carbon intensive hotspots the Council should target, the following opportunities should be considered to encourage a reduction business travel associated
emissions. These opportunities largely revolve around reducing the total journeys and mileage being completed by Council employees.
• The use of Skype and MS Teams (and other video conferencing tools) are a great way to cut down on face to face meetings.
• Car sharing and encouragement on the use of public transport where possible should also be investigated.
Ultimately SKDC will need to engage with its employees to better understand the practical implications of reducing its business travel footprint.

Remote working
Video conferencing

Car sharing Incentives

Employee engagementEncourage use of public transport 

34

59



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

Other Emissions – Waste Carbon Reduction Opportunities

Whilst waste accounts for only a very small proportion of overall carbon emission measured in the baseline, it is a tangible emission source that many
employees will be aware of and can contribute to. The following measures can be considered as part of this action plan to begin dealing with waste. Waste is a
controllable resource that can be reduced through concerted effort and action .

Quantify – By understanding the volume and types of waste produced it is possible to fully attribute a cost to this. It is necessary to
understand costs of purchasing products and subsequent disposal. This data can then be annualised to understand the impact and
prioritise action areas. Site specific waste audits of all buildings will build an understanding of the type and volume of waste arising.
Where appointed, working with the waste contractor, will increase understanding of how waste is managed, where it goes and how
much this costs.

Use a suitable waste management company – There may be another waste management company which suits your organisation
better. In order to establish whether your current service provision is fit for purpose, compliant and offers value for money, a number
of key questions should be asked: How often are bins collected? Are they full when collected? (You could be paying for empty or
nominally empty bins being emptied). Are there any discounts/more favourable rates available for segregating recyclable waste? Does
your contractor offer complementary additional services to help manage or reduce your waste such as waste audits or waste
prevention planning? How and when will ‘Duty of Care’ documentation be provided?

Improve recycling management– Clearly label recycling bins to show where and what can be recycled. You should check the contents
of your recycling bins regularly to ensure that the recyclables are not contaminated. Ensure everyone understands the cost benefits of
recycling correctly. Consider removing or reducing the number of waste bins around your premises. To aid corporate approval, develop
the business case for restricting the residual waste capacity inside the premises.

35

60



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

Other Emissions – Water
Carbon Reduction Opportunities

Whilst water also accounts for only a very small proportion of overall carbon emission measured in the baseline, it is another tangible emission source that
many employees will be aware of and can assist with reductions. The following measures can be considered when as part of this action plan to begin dealing
with water as a controllable resource that can be reduced through concerted effort and action.

Stop dripping taps – A dripping tap can waste more than 5,500 litres of water per year. To help identify leaks and other water
losses take meter readings last thing at night and first thing in the morning to ascertain how much water is being used outside
working hours. Check your pipes and contact your water supplier to help locate leaks. The savings from tap maintenance or
replacement may be worth the investment.

Install water reducing kit in washrooms – Cistern dams, flow restrictors or percussion taps can all reduce water and costs.
Consider installing taps that are self-closing or with infrared sensors; as well as reducing water use they can improve hygiene.
Consider the cost benefit of procuring water reducing kit on a site by site basis. Expertise and resource is needed to select items
to procure given the number of offerings on the market.

Regularly maintain water systems and lower the water pressure – Regular maintenance of taps will ensure that soap deposits
and scale does not cause leaks or jammed taps. A flow rate of 5-6 litres per minute is adequate for hand washing. Tap aerators
and flow restrictors are low-cost solutions which can reduce water use by up to 70%.

36

61



Section 3: Carbon reduction opportunities

Beyond 2030

Looking beyond 2030, the Council has committed to endeavouring to become
net-zero carbon as soon as viable before 2050. This report has not explored
the potential pathway to achieving this target. There are several areas the
Council would need to explore further to determine how to reach this
ambition.

• Defining net-zero – as per the definition (below) it is necessary to further
define this target. There are a several methods and we would suggest
exploring this as an additional piece of work.

• Defining the pathway to 2050 – Once the target is defined, this means
extending analysis conducted to 2030 (as per slide 19 and 21) to 2050 to
understand the scale of emissions reduction challenge.

• Identifying projects to reach net-zero
1. Deeper application of existing projects such as more comprehensive

and sooner electrification of the fleet (e.g. before 2035).
2. New projects to reduce emissions through energy demand reduction,

electrification and renewable energy such as smart battery storage
technologies, vehicle to grid (V2G) applications for electric vehicles
and Council lead district heating and cooling networks.

3. Only after reducing emissions as much as possible, considering
offsetting any remaining/residual emissions.

Definition of a net zero organisation:

“A net-zero organisation will set and 
pursue an ambitious 1.5°C aligned 

Science Based Target for its full supply 
chain emissions. Any remaining hard-to-

decarbonise emissions can be 
compensated with certified greenhouse 

gas removal (GGR)’ 
(Draft Science Based Target Initiative 

/Carbon Trust definition)

Further explanation and exploration: 
www.carbontrust.com/news-and-
events/insights/net-zero-an-ambition-in-need-of-
a-definition

37

62

https://www.carbontrust.com/news-and-events/insights/net-zero-an-ambition-in-need-of-a-definition


Section 4: Governance and engagement

To manage the implementation of a carbon reduction programme, it is important that organisational procedures are put in place to maintain a focus on 
carbon reduction over time. In order to achieve the carbon reduction target, the Council will have to consider dynamic organisational structures to ensure 
that they remain flexible in the approaches being taken to tackle climate change. A key emphasis should be on enhancing knowledge sharing and 
integration across internal Council-led teams and ultimately focussing on initiatives that can be driven forward by the residents, organisations and 
businesses across the borough. This section describes the main activities and changes that should be considered in order to embed carbon reduction across 
the council in the first instance.

Governance

The Cabinet Member for Commercial & Operations is the Cabinet lead for climate change and will continue to champion the Council’s response to climate 
change and carbon reduction.  The Climate Change Action Task & Finish Group is charged with developing carbon reduction options and proposing these to 
the Environment Overview & Scrutiny Committee, in turn, the Environment Overview & Scrutiny Committee will then make recommendations to Cabinet.

It is intended that carbon reduction initiatives will be mainstreamed in to Council-wide strategic, service and project plans to ensure that these are actively 
factored in as part of the core objectives of each of these with clear accountability held by those delivering these – for example, any leisure centre reduction 
measures would be expected to form part of the leisure centre programme plans.  All Overview & Scrutiny Committees would have a role in informing, 
scrutinising and strategically monitoring this across their relevant remits.  To support this, all decision reports also have a climate change impact 
assessment.

General coordination, oversight and advice will continue to be provided by the Sustainability and Climate Change Officer with support from the Council’s 
Performance Lead officer to provide climate/carbon performance data across all areas.  Council-wide updates on progress against the Council’s carbon 
reduction targets could be reported to Environment Overview & Scrutiny Committee, via an annual position statement report.

Section 4: Governance and Engagement

38

63



Section 4: Governance and engagement

Stakeholder Engagement

Robust engagement with stakeholders from across the Council will be a crucial for successful climate action implementation. The Council should explore 
innovative ways through which the whole organisation can contribute towards achieving carbon neutrality by 2030. 

Achieving the greatest possible input and buy-in will allow SKDC to work closely with all stakeholders to identify the areas of the Council to prioritise in order 
to reduce emissions. It will be important for the Council to remain transparent throughout all engagement activities, to provide stakeholders with the 
opportunity to contribute towards the planned reduction activities that the Council intends to implement across its own estate. 

Developing a robust stakeholder engagement plan should build on previous engagement to:

➢ Develop an initial list of stakeholders from across the Council to continually engage

➢ Complete internal in-depth stakeholder mapping exercise to identify, map and prioritise key stakeholders from across the Council. This will ensure that key 
stakeholder needs are identified and understood with the relevant resources being targeted effectively. 

➢ Develop and agree a communications/engagement strategy that clearly details the Council’s approach towards stakeholder engagement, ensuring 
complete transparency.

➢ Develop the appropriate tools to accurately plan and track all stakeholder interaction and store stakeholder information.

Section 4: Governance and Engagement

39

64



Section 5: Monitoring and reporting

Once a carbon footprint has been measured and a target set, measuring progress is an important part of implementation. Monitoring and reporting are 
essential activities that should be undertaken at least annually between the baseline year and target year, and beyond.

Monitoring

Collecting the data should be completed internally on a regular basis. This process should become streamlined as the necessary data sources and 
associated contacts/owners become familiar with the process and adopt best practice data management. The ‘Carbon Trust Footprint Calculator’ provides 
a tool to collect data and calculate an updated footprint (using updated emission factors where necessary). 

Not only does the footprint need to be monitored but progress with implementing carbon reduction opportunities should be actively monitored too, 
including implementation year, energy reduction and cost savings. In this way, successful projects can be reported on in quantitative as well as a qualitative 
way. This can help to drive momentum and support securing budget towards future measures.

In addition to monitoring the footprint itself, the project team should continually monitor how local plans and policies will affect the Council’s footprint 
and affect the ability of the Council to reach respective carbon reduction targets. This will help the project team to identify other potential carbon 
reduction opportunities and ensure that any carbon reduction co-benefits of specific policies can be delivered. 

Section 5: Monitoring and Reporting

40

65



Section 5: Monitoring and reporting

Reporting

Annual reporting of the carbon footprint is essential. Not only does it ensure transparency but can also identify any arising issues which could prevent the 
target being met. A key measure should be the annual emissions reductions achieved across the Council, alongside the overall progress towards meeting 
the target, and implementation of carbon reduction opportunities.

Internal and external reporting processes and mechanisms should be established as part of the programme management. As a minimum progress should 
be reported annually and communicated to the X team as part of ongoing programme management. Communicating more widely with stakeholders across 
the District will ensure transparency and demonstrates progress towards targets. The footprint and progress can also feed into annual reports and local 
plans. 

Section 5: Monitoring and Reporting

41

66



Appendices

Appendices

1. Excluded emission sources

2. General notes
• Capital costs
• Decarbonising heat

3. Further information and assumptions:
• Street lighting
• HRA assets
• Fleet management
• Fleet electrification
• Leisure centres
• SKDC buildings

42

67



Appendices

Appendix 1: Excluded emission sources

Some emission categories are not relevant to a Council’s operations and have therefore been excluded from this footprint. 

In future, SKDC could consider exploring expanding it’s footprint to include supply chain/scope 3 emissions the emissions, such as employee 
committing, procured service and investments. This would require additional data.

Emission Source

Sc
o

p
e 

3

Capital goods Out of scope: Does not play a key role in the Council’s operations.

Upstream leased assets

(3rd party owned, Council operated – Leisure Centres)
Included

Employee commuting Excluded from scope of this report

Procured services (contracts) Excluded from scope of this report

Franchises Out of scope: No franchises controlled by the Council

Investments Excluded from scope of this report

Downstream transportation and distribution Out of scope: No sold goods distributed by the Council

Processing of sold products Out of scope: Not applicable to the Council’s operations

Use of sold products Out of scope: Not applicable to the Council’s operations

End-of-life treatment of sold products Out of scope: Not applicable to the Council’s operations

43

68



Appendices

Appendix 2: General notes

Capital Costs

• The capital costs stated in this report are based on the application of technical principles and professional
evaluation. The professional evaluations are based on information available and are conditioned by data limits,
scope of work and time.

• Whenever possible, calculation of energy and economic savings has been performed. Similarly, approximate capital
costs were estimated which can be used to derive simple payback.

• All suggested projects require verification and detailed assessment prior to proceeding with implementation.
• It would be prudent to conduct detailed life cycle assessments particularly for high capital value projects factoring in

a number of variables that are not included within to derive more sophisticated metrics such as NPV and IRR for
improved evaluation and prioritisation.

Decarbonising Heat

• The majority of decarbonisation pathways include the electrification of heat sources (e.g. replacement of gas boilers
with electrically-powered heat pumps).

• Heat pumps output at a lower temperature compared to gas boilers and their operation is therefore more sensitive
to the energy efficiency of the building.

• Before electrification is considered, a building’s fabric (e.g. air tightness, insulation, ventilation) should first be
considered and upgraded where necessary to ensure that an appropriately sized heat pump can efficiently meet the
heat demand of a building.

44

69



Appendices

Appendix 3: Further information and assumptions  
- Streetlighting LED 

• When selecting new lights, it is essential the quality of light is considered, not just its energy consumption. There are many 
measures used to evaluate the effectiveness of lighting besides the energy it consumes and SKDC should be careful to ensure the 
quality of lighting is not compromised. Indicators and technical terms used to evaluate the quality of lighting besides energy 
consumption include (but are not limited to) light output, lighting intensity and glare, light density, light pollution, good colour 
rendering levels and colour temperature. In addition lighting design software can be used to simulated new lighting schemes 
(renders) and manufacturers or independent lighting designers should always produce comparative renders of the existing and 
planned lighting, especially if the existing columns are being retained.

• Additional benefits of LEDs include more focused light which improves night-time visibility (and therefore reduces vehicle 
accidents), and reduces light pollution for local residents. Their significantly longer life expectancy (10 to 12 years for LED v 3 - 6 
years for conventional lighting) means reduced maintenance costs, fewer lamp renewals, less scouting and physical monitoring.

• It has been assumed 40% of energy would be saved by converting street lights to LED. The actual energy saving realised will vary
according to many factors including the difference between the wattage of the current luminaire and the LED proposed. Before 
selecting an LED replacement, the quality of light must be respected, the light output must be equivalent or better and the lamp
should have a colour rendering index greater than 70. The use of white light sources (lamps with a colouring index greater than 60) 
allow a lower lighting class to be used on residential roads which also brings about potential savings in energy consumption.

• A cost of £0.11 per kWh has been used, which was derived from the data collection. The implementation cost is based on £200 per 
LED luminaire (£150 for a 35W LED equivalent and £50 per unit installation fee). It assumes that column replacements will not be
needed given many suppliers offer an LED luminaire-only replacement solutions meaning the column doesn't have to be replaced. 

• It must be noted that LED project costs are also influenced by other installation costs, survey costs, adviser costs, dimming and 
trimming technology and a central management system (CMS) therefore the estimated figure may not reflect total actual costs.

• The calculations assume lamps are not currently dimmed. It is estimated that a further 33% reduction would be achieved by 
dimming all lamps to 50% of their output between 00:00-06:00. Its is assumed all streetlights are upgraded to LED by 2022. 

45

70



Appendices

Appendix 3: Further information and assumptions -
HRA Assets

• Limited information has been received regarding the number of sites, disaggregated energy consumption, 
systems/technology/plant involved and specification of energy using equipment.

• SKDC should seek to ascertain in the first instance whether all energy quoted under this emissions source resides within 
communal areas or includes energy consumed within tenant areas e.g. communal heating systems for flats. 

• LED lighting upgrade figures assume that 50% of the quoted energy consumed for lighting is currently provided by fluorescent 
style lamps and can therefore be upgraded to LED creating a 40% reduction in energy use.

• It is estimated that 35kW of LED would be required to upgrade the associated lighting at a cost of £2,500/kW of LED.
• The electrification of heating system estimate is not based on any actual data and significant further investigation is required to 

ascertain the costs, savings and practicalities of such upgrades. 
• Due to the significant up-front costs associated with electrifying heat, it is important that the Council undertakes robust planning 

and feasibility assessments to ensure the installation of systems delivers both energy and cost savings. This includes a robust 
assessment of necessary building fabric and oversized heat emitters to cope with lower temperatures that heat pump systems 
generally operate at. 

• This illustrative estimate assumes that 25% of the current  gas heating demand could be upgraded with heat pumps alternatives
meeting with a co-efficient of performance (COP) of 3.6 providing a target demand of 706,345kWh (determined from assuming 
the current gas fired heating system is 75% efficient).

• Cost are based on a nominal £200,000 and will vary significantly depending on the nature of the situation which is deemed 
outside this assessment.

• Year 1 carbon reduction figures are based on 2018/19 carbon factors and factor in the reduction of grid emission going forward.
• It is assumed that the carbon savings associated with HRA measures are fully implemented from 2023. 

46

71



Appendices

Driver training 
• To quantify this opportunity, it is assumed that 180 drivers (one driver per vehicle) undertake 2 training between 2021 and 2030. 
• Each course of training is estimated to cost ~£100 (a market snapshot show costs vary but this is conservative estimate).
• Research shows that fuel efficiency improvements were greater when driver were trained more than once*. 
• In terms of overall carbon reductions, up to 25% reduction is possible*, but more realistically the reduction is estimated to be between 5-10% in the 

long terms. We have assumed an 6.5% long term reduction*.

Telematics 
• It is assumed that improved or new telematics would be used for all 180 fleet vehicles, and that the cost of this would be £20/month per vehicle*** 

to provide driver management, in-depth live tracking, traffic updates, sophisticated reporting, maintenance tracking and driver safety analysis.
• The impact of telematics in terms of savings can vary*, we have assumed a 9% fuel saving**.
• It should be noted that use of telematics is not solely about technology instalment. Adoption of telematics need to be designed to the needs of the 

Council and engage with employees on the benefits to be deliver savings. 

Fleet policy 
• A formal fuel efficient fleet policy is a commitment to reducing dependency on fuel across the organisation. It should provide the framework and 

roadmap for taking action to reduce fleet fuel consumption going forward, and set targets for continual year-on-year improvements.

Case studies: Dumfries and Galloway Council, Leeds City Council
Guidance: Guide to managing grey fleet mileage, Guide to Telematics

Appendix 3: Further information and 
assumptions - Fleet management

*Department of Transport, 2016, Efficient Driving https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/509972/efficient-driving-
rapid-evidence-assessment.pdf
**Fleetworld, 2018, Telematics could offer 9% fuel savings to fleetshttps://fleetworld.co.uk/telematics-offer-9-fuel-savings-to-fleets/
***Expert Market, 2020, Vehicle Tracking Costs 2020, https://www.expertmarket.co.uk/vehicle-tracking/vehicle-tracking-systems-cost 47

72

https://energysavingtrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/Dumfries%20%26%20Galloway%20Council%20grey%20fleet%20case%20study%20FINAL.pdf
https://energysavingtrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/Leeds%20City%20Council%20Case%20Study_0.pdf
https://energysavingtrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/reports/15-05%204940-EST-Grey-Fleet-Management-Guide-A4-final.pdf
https://energysavingtrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/Telematics.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/509972/efficient-driving-rapid-evidence-assessment.pdf
https://fleetworld.co.uk/telematics-offer-9-fuel-savings-to-fleets/
https://www.expertmarket.co.uk/vehicle-tracking/vehicle-tracking-systems-cost


Appendices

Electric Vehicles 
• To quantify this opportunity, it is assumed that all responsive repair vehicles will be replaced by comparable electric vehicles, 

and that the mileage will remain constant. 
• There are 50 responsive repair vehicles within the total fleet of 180 vehicles (of which 2 are currently electric)

• The location of Council’s depot may change in the next few years replaced by a new depot. We understand discussions around this are ongoing within 
the Council. We are also aware that some fleet vehicles are taken home by employees, the cost of charging infrastructure related to home charging has 
not been taken into account.

• Some of the vehicles proposed for replacement are larger vans, for which the commercially viable models are currently emerging, therefore it may take 
some time for the Council to replace these vehicles.

• Car derived (small) and medium electric vans (up to 2.2 tonnes) have been available for some time. A variety of models are now available from different 
manufacturers, each with their own performance specifications. 

• At present, there is a very limited range of large 3.5 tonne electric vans available, however projections indicate that this is likely to change as whole 
markets transition towards electric vehicles. A number of vehicle manufacturers have actively been testing and trailing a variety of electric light 
commercial vehicles (LCVs), however the majority of these are still considered to be in their prototype phases. The cost of such vehicles is the 
predominant barrier, and it is estimated that currently they are at least twice as expensive as the equivalent diesel van. This is likely to reduce over time 
as the market develops. 

• A conservative approach has been taken in terms of the implementation timeline, this could of course begin sooner with more vehicles delivering 
greater carbon savings. Waste vehicles will be the most challenging to electrify but SKDC should keep this under close consideration given the associated 
carbon emissions. Trials have begun elsewhere in the UK (https://resource.co/article/sheffield-trials-waste-powered-electric-bin-lorries)

• One of the simplest ways of reducing LCV fleet emissions and costs is to downsize the vehicles where possible. When vehicles are due for replacement 
the current usage should be robustly and independently reviewed and the need for large vans challenged. The impact of this approach has not been 
included in calculations. 

Guidance: Electric and smart vehicles guide

Appendix 3: Further information and 
assumptions - Electrification of Council fleet

48

73

https://resource.co/article/sheffield-trials-waste-powered-electric-bin-lorries
https://www.carbontrust.com/resources/electric-and-smart-vehicles-guide


Appendices

Appendix 3: Further information and assumptions -
Leisure Centres

• SKDC have decided to include leisure leased asset portions of their operations within their core footprint and target. 
Many councils are now beginning to include previously unmanaged and unmeasured resources from their scope 3 footprint, 
such as outsourced leisure operations into their plans. SKDC should however be commended for the decision  to include the centres within the target.

• At present, limited information has been provided regarding the energy efficiency and energy management status of the leisure centres outside of the 
associated energy consumption. All sites are known to managed by an external management company.  

• Display Energy Certificates for each centre were however obtained online to determine the associated energy intensity per m2 for the reported year 
18/19.

• To provide an illustrative yet realistic target for each leisure to contribute to the 30% reduction target, it has been suggested that for Grantham and 
Bourne Leisure centres a reduction of 20% in electricity and gas use needs to be achieved (DEC rating C and D respectively). In these instances it is likely 
that the improvements would bring about an uplift in the DEC ratings to B and C respectively which is deemed a realistic target (not modelled and could 
go further).

• The current DEC rating of an F at Stamford Leisure centre indicates poor energy performance and it is assumed for the purposes here that a 45% 
improvement in the energy intensity could be achieved improving the DEC rating to a D.

• Given the presence of an Oil based heating system at Deeping Leisure centre, the assumption is made that this can be switched to Gas (although 
electrification inline with other section of this report should seriously be considered in the first instance) and an overall improvement of 20% could also be 
achieved.

• The cost of achieving these improvements has not been estimated to the lack of site level information and the high level nature of the above. It could be 
assumed however that to achieve such reductions £1000-£2000 per ton of carbon saved (840 in this illustrative example) may be required equating to 
£840,000 - £1,680,000. Costs involved could however be many orders of magnitude higher depending on a wide variety of factors. 

Guidance: Hospitality sector energy saving guide including leisure and fitness facilities

49

74

https://www.carbontrust.com/resources/hospitality-sector-energy-saving-guide


Appendices

Appendix 3: Further information and 
assumptions - SKDC buildings

1. Energy management with aM&T
• The Council should look to develop an overall policy and procedure towards energy management across it’s sites. Energy management is a 

continuous process that develops over time. A blend of both technological and management interventions is required in order to develop 
robust energy management procedures. The Council will need to ensure that any strategy is integrated, proactive, and incorporates energy 
procurement, energy efficiency and renewable energy to be fully effective.

• Estimated savings have been calculated based on industry-accepted estimates, and information obtained from physical site visits (e.g. 
proportion of electric heating). % reduction in total electricity consumption, and % reduction in gas consumption for space heating were 
assumed to be as follows: St Peter’s Hill, 2.0% & 1.0%; Guildhall Arts Centre, 3.0% & 2.0%; Stamford Arts Centre, 5.0% & 1.0%

2. Solar PV installation
• Simulations were run using 250 W panels each occupying an area of ~1.6 m2 panel -1. The building was assumed to consume 100% of the 

electricity produced by the array, and a CAPEX of £1,000 per kW was applied. 
• Useable roof areas of 400 m2 and 65 m2 were estimated for St Peter’s Hill and the Guildhall Arts Centre, respectively. 
• The occupancy of building’s visited were consistent with the generation profile of a solar PV system, and an energy storage system (e.g. a 

battery) has not been included in the business case. Further consideration of a site’s actual demand profile should be made to access the 
suitability of an energy storage system to increase the utilisation of electricity generated.

The energy performance of the visited sites conformed to a similar standard. In general, there was no/limited building 
management system in place, < 10% LED light fittings and no on-site renewable energy generation. Additionally, St Peter’s Hill 
and the Guildhall Arts Centre are both entirely or partially heated by boilers over 20 years old. Many of the suggestions are
therefore standardised ‘easy wins’ that can be applied across the Council’s building stock. More information and the 
assumptions for the projects are contained below: 

50

75



Appendices

Appendix 3: Further information and 
assumptions - SKDC buildings

3. Lighting upgrades
• LED lighting offers significant energy savings over typical fluorescent tube lighting. The quality of light produced and types of fittings 

available can also make for a more attractive, exciting and comfortable working environment. It is more cost effective to replace 
current fittings immediately with LEDs as opposed to waiting for current units to fail.

• Alongside upgrading the lighting itself it is important to consider an appropriate control system. Installing daylight and/or
occupational sensors can ensure that lights are not turned on inappropriately or left on at the end of the working day or over 
weekends. Such systems are cost effective and a useful means of reducing electricity demand.

• The proportion of electricity used for lighting was estimated for each building, derived from industry benchmarks and information 
obtained from physical site visits. This varied from between 13.8% - 15.9% for the three sites. 

• Expected kWh saving of 40% from the LED & control system rollout was used to estimate savings. Costs were approximated using 
2500 £/kW of LED.

4. Heating system upgrades
• For all the sites visited, space and water heating make up a considerable proportion of the site’s emissions. Where heating upgrades have been 

recommended, two options have been put forward (a. electrify heating through an air source heat pump, or b. upgrade existing gas boilers).  
• The business case for installing a heat pump is often weaker than upgrading with traditional gas boilers. However, the enhanced efficiency of a heat 

pump and grid decarbonisation make for greater carbon savings relative to a gas boiler. The business case for heat pumps is expected to significantly 
improve with sector maturity and Government policy (e.g. increase in gas levies). 

• By choosing the cheaper straight swap option for upgrading existing gas boilers, the council will very likely lock themselves into a more carbon intensive 
heating source for buildings over the coming years. As such, it is strongly advised that electrified heating should be thoroughly investigated for all sites in 
the future.

a. Air source heat pumps. Electrical demand of heat pump derived assuming current gas boiler efficiency of 70% and heat pump COP of 4 – 4.1.  Cost 
assume £425/kW of estimated heat demand required (350kW for St Peters Hill and 200kW for the Guildhall)

b. Upgraded gas boilers. Gas consumption of upgraded boilers derived assuming current gas boiler efficiency of 70% and a new boiler efficiency of 95%.
Costs assume £100kW of estimated heat demand required (350kW for St Peters Hill and 200kW for the Guildhall). 51

76



Whilst reasonable steps have been taken to ensure that the information contained within this publication is correct, the 
authors, the Carbon Trust, its agents, contractors and sub-contractors give no warranty and make no representation as 
to its accuracy and accept no liability for any errors or omissions. All trademarks, service marks and logos in this 
publication, and copyright in it, are the property of the Carbon Trust (or its licensors). Nothing in this publication shall be 
construed as granting any licence or right to use or reproduce any of the trademarks, services marks, logos, copyright or 
any proprietary information in any way without the Carbon Trust’s prior written permission. The Carbon Trust enforces 
infringements of its intellectual property rights to the full extent permitted by law.
The Carbon Trust is a company limited by guarantee and registered in England and Wales under company number 
4190230 with its registered office at 4th Floor Dorset House, Stamford Street, London SE1 9NT.
Published in the UK: 2020.
© The Carbon Trust 2020. All rights reserved. 

77



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

21 July 2020 

Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley 

  Cabinet Member for Commercial 
and Operations 

           

Review of Public Space Protection Orders 

The Council is required to review the Public Space Protection Orders which apply in the district 

every three years.  This report considers whether the existing Orders should be extended and 

amended where necessary, and an additional Order implemented.  

 

Report Author 

Anne-Marie Coulthard, Head of Environmental 

 
01476 406319 

 a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Competitiveness Regulatory All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Ian Yates, Assistant Director, Commercial and 
Operations 

29 June 2020 

Approved by: Gary Smith, Strategic Director, Commercial and 
Operations 

1 July 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for 
Commercial and Operations 

2 July 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Considers the existing Public Space Protection Orders and agrees them, with or 
without amendments, as a basis for public consultation. 

2. Considers and gives a view on the request from Market Deeping Town Council to 
implement a Public Space Protection Order to control dogs at The Spinney, Market 
Deeping Cemetery.  

3. Recommends to the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations that public 
consultation is undertaken in respect of the extension of the existing Orders and 
proposed new Public Space Protection Order. 

79

Agenda Item 8

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting agenda @southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 Public Space Protection Orders (PSPOs) were introduced by the Anti-social Behaviour, 

Crime and Policing Act 2014 to deal with nuisance or problems in specific areas that are 

detrimental to the local community’s quality of life, by imposing conditions on the use of 

that area which apply to everyone. They are intended to help ensure that the law-abiding 

majority can use and enjoy public spaces, safe from anti-social behaviour.  They can apply 

to any public space. The definition of public space is wide and includes any place to which 

the public or any section of the public has access. 

Existing Orders 

1.2 In October 2017, the Council’s existing Dog Control Orders and Designated Public Space 

Order automatically transitioned into PSPOs.  A PSPO can last for a maximum of 3 years. 

At any point before expiry, the Council can extend a Public Spaces Protection Order by up 

to three years if they consider it is necessary to prevent the original behaviour from 

occurring or recurring.  Consultation with the police, public and other interested parties 

must take place prior to making, extending or varying a PSPO. The power to grant PSPOs 

is only available to district councils and county councils (in areas where there is no district 

council). The current Orders are at Appendicies1, 2 and 3.  

1.3 The current PSPOs cover the following: 

 Dog Control 

 Fouling of land by dogs.  This applies to any public space within the district and 
makes it an offence to fail to pick up dog faeces if a dog, which an individual is in 
charge of, defecates. 

 The requirement for a dog to be put on a lead at the direction of an authorised 
officer.  An authorised officer can request an individual in charge of a dog in any 
public space within the district, to put (and keep) the dog on a lead, if such restraint 
is considered reasonably necessary. 

 The exclusion of dogs from specified areas. An offence is committed if a person in 
charge of a dog takes it onto or permits it to enter or remain in an enclosed 
children’s play area covered by the Order.    

 Anti-social behaviour caused by drinking alcohol in a designated public space 

 It is an offence for a person to continue to drink alcohol in a designated place after 
being asked not to do so by a police officer or other designated person. The police 
also have the power to require the surrender of opened alcohol containers. Those 
who fail to comply with the confiscation are liable to arrest and may be fined £500 if 
convicted. The PSPO does not prohibit responsible drinking in public spaces, only 
problematic drinking causing a nuisance to others.   

1.4 In considering whether the requirements should continue, the Council should be satisfied 

on reasonable grounds that the measures continue to be necessary to prevent the 

detrimental effect on those in the locality or reduce the likelihood of the detrimental effect 

continuing, occurring or recurring.  If the Order for alcohol control is extended it will require 

amending to reflect recent changes to Ward boundaries. 

1.5 The appearance of the district is important to residents and the Council’s commitment to a 

higher street standard enforces this. Dog fouling in particular, continues to prompt 

complaints and patrols are carried out in hotspot areas.  The presence of officer’s and 

signage does act as a deterrent and as a result no breaches of the PSPO have been 

80



 

 
 

identified, although existing fouling is observed. The number of dog fouling complaints 

received by South Kesteven District Council are shown below. 

 

Year Number of fouling complaints 

2016 312 

2017 197 

2018 188 

2019 211 

 

1.6 In respect of alcohol control, from April 2019 to May 2020, high level data from 

Lincolnshire Police shows they received 162 reports of drunken behaviour and 12 reports 

of street drinking across the district.    

Proposed new Order 

1.7 A request has been received from Market Deeping Town Council to consider the 

implementation of a new PSPO to require dogs to be kept on leads in an enclosed area of 

Market Deeping Cemetery known as The Spinney.  This area is used for the scattering of 

cremated remains which are covered with a thin layer of soil.  The letter requesting this is 

at Appendix 4.  

1.8 A PSPO can be made by the Council if it is satisfied on reasonable grounds that the 

activity or behaviour concerned, carried out, or likely to be carried out, in a public space:  

 has had, or is likely to have, a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the 
locality; 

 is, or is likely to be, persistent or continuing in nature; 

 is, or is likely to be, unreasonable; and 

 justifies the restrictions imposed 

 

Consultation Requirements  

1.9 Before extending or implementing a new PSPO there is a requirement to consult the 

public, police, landowners and any other community representatives that are considered 

appropriate.  There is no statutory consultation period, however, a period of 4 weeks is 

proposed. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 When the consultation is complete the results will be analysed and presented to Cabinet.    

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 The existing Orders could be allowed to expire.  This would remove the ability to enforce 

against the matters covered by the Orders.  

 

 

81



 

 
 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 That consultation is undertaken and following analysis of the responses, the continuation 

of the existing Orders and necessity to implement a further Order be considered.  

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 The existing Public Space Protection Orders are due to expire, and a request has been 

received to consider an additional new Order.   Proceeding to consultation will help inform 

whether there is a need to extend the existing Orders and introduce an additional Order.   

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 Following agreement by the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations, the existing 

Orders and proposed new draft Order will be subject to a 4 week public consultation. 

Following consideration of the responses, a report will be presented to Cabinet for 

consideration.  

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 There are no budget implications related to the proposed consultation. However, there will 

be budget implications in enforcing any extension of existing and new Orders.  A new 

Order will require signage and signage for the existing areas will need to be refreshed and 

reviewed. It is anticipated that some addition budget, in the region of £500 will be required 

for the signage.  This will be identified from existing budgets and therefore does not 

require additional financing being sought. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance. 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 sets out the requirements for 

consultation.  A PSPO can be made if, on reasonable grounds, the local authority is 

satisfied that the required conditions are met. As stated in the report, the PSPOs can last 

for up to three years once approved and can be varied or extended more than once.  

Legal Implications reviewed by: Mandy Braithwaite, Legal Executive 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 An initial equality impact assessment has been completed for the consultation process 

and is at Appendix 5. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 No significant risks associated with this report have been identified.  

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 Given that these Orders can restrict what people can do and how they behave in public 

spaces, it is important that the restrictions imposed are focused on specific behaviours 

and are proportionate to the detrimental effect that the behaviour is causing or can cause, 

and are necessary to prevent it from continuing, occurring or recurring. 

 

 

82



 

 
 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 The existence of Public Spaces Protection Orders means it is likely that Officers will need 

to visit these areas for educational and enforcement purposes.  Officers have access to 

electric pool car vehicles and where possible will travel on foot to undertake this work, 

reducing reliance on petrol/diesel vehicles.    

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 No other significant implications have been identified.  

14 Background Papers 

14.1 None 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix 1 – Existing Orders  

15.2 Appendix 2 – Enclosed children’s play areas subject to the Order requiring the exclusion 

of dogs. 

15.3 Appendix 3 – Wards included in the Public Space Protection Order for the Control of 

Alcohol 

15.4 Appendix 4 – Letter from Market Deeping Town Council 

15.5 Appendix 5 – Initial Equality Impact Assessment  

 

 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

20 July 2020 

Final Decision date   To be confirmed 

 

83



This page is intentionally left blank



85

Appendix 1 - part 1



86



87



88



89

Appendix 1 - part 2



90



91



92



93

Appendix 1 - part 3



94



95



96



97

Appendix 1 - part 4



98



99

Appendix 1 - part 5



100



101

Appendix 1 - part 6



102



103

Appendix 1 - part 7



104



105

Appendix 1 - part 8



106



Enclosed Children’s Play Areas Subject to a Public Space Protection Order Excluding Dogs  

Grantham 

Beechcroft Road 
Dysart Park  
Gonerby Road 
Harrowby Lane 
Trent Road 
Wyndham Park 
 

Stamford 

Drift Road 

Elizabeth Road 

Recreation ground 

 

Bourne 

Manor Lane 

Northfields 

Recreation ground 

 

Market Deeping  

Church Street 

Godsey Lane/John Eve Way 

 

Villages  

Jubilee playing field, Bottesford Road, Allington  

Honnington Road, Barkston 

Colster Way, Colsterworth 

Crowson Way, Deeping St James 

Woody Heights, Lunchfield Road, Deeping St James 

Main Road, Dowsby 

Belton Lane, Great Gonerby 

Carlton Road, Hough on the Hill 

Black Bull Green, Aquila Way, Langtoft 

Manor Close, Langtoft 

Braceby Road, Ropsley 

Water Lane, South Witham 

Lawrance Park, Thurlby 

Village Street, Woolsthorpe by Belvoir  

Woolsthopre Road, Woolsthorpe by Colsterworth  

 

 

 

107

Appendix 2



This page is intentionally left blank



Wards included in the Public Space Protection Order for the Control of Alcohol 

Note: these are the Ward names at the time the Order was made.     

 

Grantham Peascliffe 

Grantham Greyfriars 

Grantham St Wulfrum’s 

Grantham Harrowby 

Grantham Belmont 

Grantham St Anne’s 

Grantham St John’s  

Grantham Earlesfield 

Grantham Greenhill 

Grantham Greyfriars 

Bourne East 

Bourne West 

Stamford All Saints 

Stamford St Johns 

Stamford St Mary’s 

Stamford St George’s 

Market and West Deeping 

Deeping St James  

 

 

109

Appendix 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 

Request for a Public Spaces Protection Order 
Limiting the Movement of Dogs through The Spinney, 

Market Deeping Cemetery 
 
 

June 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Town Clerk: Mrs S Lydford 
 

Market Deeping Town Council 
Town Hall 

Market Place 
Market Deeping 

01778 343170 
Mdtc.townclerk@btconnect.com 

 

111

Appendix 4 - part 1



The Spinney, Market Deeping Cemetery 
 

Market Deeping Cemetery is located between Church Street and John Eve Way 
in the heart of a Market Deeping recreational area (see attached plan).  
 
The Spinney is a separate, attractive and peaceful area within the Cemetery set 
aside for the scattering of cremated remains.  
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
There is a pathway through from 
The Rectory Paddock, of 
approximately 40m in length, 
which leads into the main burial 
area. This is one of three 
pedestrian access routes into the 
Cemetery and it is accessible for 
all users. 
 

 
 
 
 

112



The Spinney is approximately 830m2 and is planted with trees and natural 
woodland planting. Family and friends, if they wish to do so, are able to choose 
appropriate woodland shrubs and bulbs to add to the planting that has already 
taken place as a way of commemorating those loved ones whose remains have 
been scattered. Small granite plaques can also be purchased and placed on the 
kerbstones of the path to provide a more permanent memorial. 
 
 
 
There is a wooden bench along the 
path where people can stop and sit 
for a moment of peaceful reflection 
before continuing their walk through 
the Cemetery or through The 
Paddock. 
 
 
 
The route through the Cemetery and recreational grounds is a popular 
pathway as it provides a pleasant walk linking the two main areas of the town. 
There are currently no restrictions on the movement of dogs through either 
The Spinney or the main burial area of the Cemetery. 
 
 

A Request for a Public Spaces Protection Order 
 

The following matter has recently been brought to the Council’s attention: 
 
Over the course of a few weeks The Spinney was visited by a lady who had 
recently lost her husband and who wished to have his ashes scattered there. 
On several of her visits, while sitting quietly on the bench, she was passed by 
owners walking their dogs. On 2 separate occasions, and with 2 separate dogs, 
she was upset to see that the dogs were running free amongst the wooded, 
planted areas and disturbing and scratching around in the earth where the 
scatterings take place. The lady also witnessed a dog defecating in the area.  
 
The Council welcomes dogs in both the Cemetery and The Spinney, but it is a 
matter of concern for the Council that these incidences caused the lady 
considerable distress. The lady has enquired whether something can be done 
to prevent this from happening as she cannot bring herself to scatter her 

113



husband’s ashes while there is a possibility that his ashes could be disturbed in 
this way.  
 
The route via The Paddock, The Spinney and the Cemetery is a popular route 
by dog walkers accessing the larger recreational parks, and it is unlikely that 
these witnessed incidences would have been isolated occurrences. The 
disturbance of scattered cremated remains and the potential distress that this 
has already caused, and may cause in the future, to bereaved family and 
friends, is something that the Council wish to safeguard against. 
 
 
The Council is keen to offer the 
lady reassurances so that she can 
carry out her wishes but, as there 
are no formal measures in place 
to restrict the movement of dogs, 
it is unable to do so. Currently 
there is only one sign, on the 
lesser used pedestrian access to 
the side of the cemetery. 
  
 
The Council do not consider it necessary to completely exclude dogs from The 
Spinney, but it does consider it important, and respectful, that their 
movements are restricted by ensuring that owners keep them on their leads. 
The Council request, therefore, that a Public Spaces Protection Order is granted 
for The Spinney to restrict the movement of dogs and the appropriate signage 
be put in place at the earliest opportunity.  
 

 
In the interim, the Council has placed laminated polite 
notices at either end of the pathway through The 
Spinney and has highlighted the issue on the Councils 
social media page. These are temporary measures, 
however, and the Council now seeks a more 
permanent solution for The Spinney. It requests that 
approval be granted as soon as possible. 
 
 
 

114



115

Appendix 4 - part 2



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 

 
 
 

 

Equality Impact 
(Initial Analysis) 

 
 

Review of Public Space Protection 
Orders 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Service Area: 
Environmental  
 
 

Lead officer: 
Anne-Marie Coulthard 

Date of Meeting  
 
25/06/20 Assessors: 

 

Neutral Assessor: 
Carol Drury 
 

  

117

Appendix 5



2 

 

1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy 
 
 

The council must review the Public Space Protection Orders (PSPOs) in 
place in the district every 3 years to determine whether or not they should be 
renewed.  This review is now due.  The current PSPOs are as follows: 

1) Fouling of Land Order (district wide). This makes it an offence to fail to 
pick up dog faeces if a dog, which an individual is in charge of, defecates.   

2) Dogs on Leads Order (district wide).  An authorised officer can request an 
individual in charge of a dog to put (and keep) the dog on a lead, if such 
restraint is considered reasonably necessary. 

3) Dog exclusion Order (selected areas). This excludes dogs from enclosed 
children’s play areas in specified locations.  

4) Alcohol Control Zone (selected areas). This makes it an offence for a 
person to continue to drink alcohol in a designated place after being asked 
not to do so by a police officer or other designated person. The police also 
have the power to require the surrender of opened alcohol containers. The 
PSPO does not prohibit responsible drinking in public spaces, only 
problematic drinking causing a nuisance to others. 

A request has also been received from Market Deeping Town Council to 
consider a new PSPO which would require dogs to be kept on leads in an 
enclosed area of the cemetery (The Spinney) where ashes are scattered. 

  

 
 

Is this a new or existing policy?  Existing  
 
2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive,  or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc. 

 
 
 
Equality Group 

Does this 
policy/service/function/strategy 
have a positive or negative 
impact on any of the equality 
groups?  
 
Please state which for each 
group 

Please describe why the 
impact is positive or negative. 
If you consider this policy etc 
is not relevant to a specific 
characteristic please explain 
why   

Age 
 
 

Neutral The application of powers and 
tools available to the district 
council under a PSPO are utilised 
in an equitable manner.  Any use 
of these powers will be as a direct 
result of an anti-social act 
perpetrated by an individual or a 

118



3 

 

dog for which they have 
responsibility.  Age therefore is 
not a relevant protected 
characteristic in relation to the 
implementation of powers offered 
through the use of a PSPO 
unless the offender can offer 
mitigating circumstances that 
relate directly to this protected 
characteristic.  

Disability 
 

 

Neutral The provisions of the PSPOs 
relating to the control of dogs do 
not apply to any person who is 
registered blind in accordance 
with section 29 of The National 
Assistance Act 1948, to any 
person who is deaf and in charge 
of a dog trained by Hearing Dogs 
for Deaf People or to any person 
suffering a disability and in 
charge of a dog trained to assist 
with his/her mobility, manual 
dexterity, physical coordination or 
ability to lift and carry everyday 
objects and the said dog has 
been trained 
by a prescribed charity. 

Race 
 

Neutral The application of powers and 
tools available to the district 
council under a PSPO are utilised 
in an equitable manner.  Any use 
of these powers will be as a direct 
result of an anti-social act 
perpetrated by an individual or a 
dog for which they have 
responsibility.  Race therefore is 
not a relevant protected 
characteristic in relation to the 
implementation of powers offered 
through the use of a PSPO 
unless the offender can offer 
mitigating circumstances that 
relate directly to this protected 
characteristic. 

Gender 
Reassignment 
 
   

Neutral The application of powers and 
tools available to the district 
council under a PSPO are utilised 
in an equitable manner.  Any use 
of these powers will be as a direct 
result of an anti-social act 
perpetrated by an individual or a 
dog for which they have 
responsibility.  Gender 
Reassignment therefore is not a 

119



4 

 

relevant protected characteristic 
in relation to the implementation 
of powers offered through the use 
of a PSPO unless the offender 
can offer mitigating 
circumstances that relate directly 
to this protected characteristic. 

Religion or Belief   Neutral The application of powers and 
tools available to the district 
council under a PSPO are utilised 
in an equitable manner.  Any use 
of these powers will be as a direct 
result of an anti-social act 
perpetrated by an individual or a 
dog for which they have 
responsibility.  Religion or Belief 
therefore is not a relevant 
protected characteristic in relation 
to the implementation of powers 
offered through the use of a 
PSPO unless the offender can 
offer mitigating circumstances 
that relate directly to this 
protected characteristic.  

Sex 
 
 
   

Neutral The application of powers and 
tools available to the district 
council under a PSPO are utilised 
in an equitable manner.  Any use 
of these powers will be as a direct 
result of an anti-social act 
perpetrated by an individual or a 
dog for which they have 
responsibility.  Sex therefore is 
not a relevant protected 
characteristic in relation to the 
implementation of powers offered 
through the use of a PSPO 
unless the offender can offer 
mitigating circumstances that 
relate directly to this protected 
characteristic.  

Sexual 
Orientation 
 

Neutral The application of powers and 
tools available to the district 
council under a PSPO are utilised 
in an equitable manner.  Any use 
of these powers will be as a direct 
result of an anti-social act 
perpetrated by an individual or a 
dog for which they have 
responsibility. Sexual Orientation 
therefore is not a relevant 
protected characteristic in relation 
to the implementation of powers 
offered through the use of a 

120



5 

 

PSPO unless the offender can 
offer mitigating circumstances 
that relate directly to this 
protected characteristic.  

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 
 
 

Neutral The application of powers and 
tools available to the district 
council under a PSPO are utilised 
in an equitable manner.  Any use 
of these powers will be as a direct 
result of an anti-social act 
perpetrated by an individual or a 
dog for which they have 
responsibility.  Pregnancy and 
Maternity therefore is not a 
relevant protected characteristic 
in relation to the implementation 
of powers offered through the use 
of a PSPO unless the offender 
can offer mitigating 
circumstances that relate directly 
to this protected characteristic.  

Marriage and Civil 
Partnership 

Neutral The application of powers and 
tools available to the district 
council under a PSPO are utilised 
in an equitable manner.  Any use 
of these powers will be as a direct 
result of an anti-social act 
perpetrated by an individual or a 
dog for which they have 
responsibility.  Marriage and Civil 
Partnership therefore is not a 
relevant protected characteristic 
in relation to the implementation 
of powers offered through the use 
of a PSPO unless the offender 
can offer mitigating 
circumstances that relate directly 
to this protected characteristic.  

Carers Neutral The application of powers and 
tools available to the district 
council under a PSPO are utilised 
in an equitable manner.  Any use 
of these powers will be as a direct 
result of an anti-social act 
perpetrated by an individual or a 
dog for which they have 
responsibility. 

121



6 

 

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past) 
 
*(IMD = Indices of 
multiple 
deprivation) 
 

None identified   

General 
comments 

 

 
 
3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of 

the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings) 

 
The review of the Orders includes a public consultation.  The initial assessment will 
be reviewed following consideration of any responses.  

 
If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed? 

 
  

Any gaps in the consultation following consideration of the responses will be 
considered. 

 
 
4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 

required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.    

 
a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any potential 

for discrimination or for negative impact and all opportunities to promote 
equality have been taken 

 

   

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead Officer 
and your Neutral Assessor for sign off 

   

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality analysis or to  

122



7 

 

better promote equality.  

   

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 and b.2  

   

c) Adverse impact but continue  

   

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1 

   

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality analysis 
has shown actual or potential unlawful 

 

 
b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts? 

 
  

 

 
 
b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 

changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.   

 
  

 

 
 

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis 

 
c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 

justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy. 

 
  

 

 
 

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact. 
 
 

 
 

Signed (Lead Officer):    Anne-Marie Coulthard 
(Name and title)   Head of Environmental 
  

Date completed:  25/06/20  
 

123



8 

 

Signed (Neutral Assessor):  Carol Drury 
(Name and title)   Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer 

 
Date signed off:     26/06/20  

 

124



Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2020/21 

Work Programme  

Item Current Issues/Status Date Outcome sought 

Performance 
Indicators 

To consider performance information against agreed indicators 

21 July 
2020, 
10:30am 
(virtual) 

To consider which areas have poor or 
good performance, make 
recommendations for improvement or 
for continued success, and to feed 
back to Officers or make 
recommendations to Cabinet as 
necessary 

Written Update on the 
Climate Change Task 
and Finish Group 

Written report outlining the work of the Climate Change Task and 
Finish Group so far, and a timetable for future works and 
completion of the project 

To consider the ongoing work of the 
Climate Change T&F Group, and 
make recommendations to the T&F 
Group or to Cabinet as necessary 

Review of Public 
Space Protection 
Orders 

Review of Public Space Protection Orders - required every three 
years.  Considering extension of existing Orders, and an 
additional Order implemented. 

To recommend that Cabinet start 
consultation on renewed Public 
Space Protection Orders 

  
6 October 
2020, 
10:30am 
(location 
TBC) 

 

   

Re-wilding 
Report updating the Committee on the re-wilding trial schemes, 
successes and failures, details of any feedback received 

8 
December 
2020, 
10:30am 
(location 
TBC) 

To assess the success and viability of 
the trial schemes, and consider 
whether to recommend further 
schemes to Cabinet for approval 

   

125

A
genda Item

 9



Item Current Issues/Status Date Outcome sought 

Performance 
Indicators 

To consider performance information against agreed indicators 

26 January 
2021, 
10:30am 
(location 
TBC) 

To consider which areas have poor or 
good performance, make 
recommendations for improvement or 
for continued success, and to feed 
back to Officers or make 
recommendations to Cabinet as 
necessary 

   

  20 April 
2021, 
10:30am 
(location 
TBC) 

 

   

 

Unscheduled items 

Alcohol, 
Entertainment and 
Leisure Licensing 
Policy 

The policy is due for review in January 2021. The Committee is 
asked to assess the existing policy, successes, failures, gaps, 
and areas which can be built upon 

TBC 
(October 
or 
December) 

To review the existing policy and 
make recommendations for the 
renewed policy ahead of presentation 
to Cabinet 

Internal Drainage 
Boards  

Presentation regarding water management from the Internal 
Drainage Board 

TBC 

For information, to receive feedback 
and questions from Councillors, and if 
necessary make recommendations to 
the IDB and/or to Cabinet 

Cycling 
Figures on take up of SKDC Cycle to Work Scheme, number of 
people who cycle to work at SKDC, and considering methods to 
increase take-up of cycling amongst both officers and public 

TBC 

To consider cycling uptake rates 
amongst SKDC residents and options 
for improvement, to make 
recommendations to Cabinet as 
necessary 

Single use plastic 
reduction 

In-depth analysis of single-use plastic usage within the Council’s 
control, and options for procurement to reduce single-use plastic 
usage at other SKDC owned sites. 

TBC 
To feedback, comment, and make 
suggestions to Cabinet for approval 
as necessary. 

  

126



REMIT 
The remit of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be to work alongside Cabinet Members to assist with the development of 
policy and to scrutinise decisions in respect of, but not limited to: 

 Air Quality 

 Alcohol, entertainment and leisure licensing (Policy) 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=14134
&p=0 (2016 policy due for review January 2021) 

 Allotments 

 Animal Welfare licensing (Policy) (guidance only, no policy: 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8305) 

 Business Trade & Licensing (Policy) (guidance only, no 
policy: 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8063) 

 Commercial, Industrial and Clinical Waste Collection and 
Management 

 Dog breeding & control orders 

 Domestic Waste & Recycling Management 

 Energy Efficiency 

 Estate and Grounds Maintenance 

 Flooding 

 Food Hygiene and Safety 

 Gambling & Lotteries licensing (Policy) 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25537
&p=0 (2020 policy due for review January 2022) 

 Health & Safety 

 Noise 

 Public Conveniences 

 Renewable Energy 

 Scrap Metal Dealers 

 Street Lighting 

 Street Services and Green Open Space Management 

 Tattoo, licensing and hygiene rating system (Policy) 
(guidance only, no policy: 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8317) 

 Taxi & private vehicle, driver and operator licensing (Policy) 
(policy currently under review) 

 Wild animal licensing (Policy) (no local policy. 
https://www.gov.uk/licence-wild-animal) 

 
Membership 7 
 

127

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=14134&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=14134&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8305
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8063
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25537&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25537&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8317
https://www.gov.uk/licence-wild-animal


T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
CABINET FORWARD PLAN 

 Notice of decisions to be made by Cabinet  
1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021 

 
The Forward Plan 
 
The Cabinet Forward Plan is a rolling, 12-month plan that will be updated on a regular basis. It includes those matters that are 
scheduled to be considered by Cabinet during the plan period. This plan also includes details of those decisions that are due to be 
made by the full Council. 
 
The Cabinet 
 
South Kesteven District Council’s Cabinet has seven Members, each of whom has their own remit. The remit for each Cabinet 
Member is set out in the table below. 

 
Cabinet Member Remit 

Councillor Kelham Cooke Leader and Cabinet Member for Corporate Services and Transformation  

Councillor Barry Dobson Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Growth and Leisure 

Councillor Robert Reid Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 

Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy 

Councillor Adam Stokes Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 

Councillor Annie Mason Cabinet Member for Communities 

 
 

129



Overview and Scrutiny 
 
The Forward Plan will be circulated to all Overview and Scrutiny Committees and be considered at each meeting as Members set 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee work programmes. Scrutiny members will be able to pick from the Forward Plan, those items 
relevant to their remit that they wish to scrutinise. 
 
Decisions Cabinet may make 
 
Cabinet Members may make decisions as “the Cabinet” in public meetings in line with the Leaders Scheme of Delegation. 
Individual Cabinet Members may also make decisions that are relevant to their own remits 
 
At its meetings, the Cabinet may make key decisions and non-key decisions. It may also make recommendations to Council on 
matters relating to the Council’s budget or its policy framework. 
 
Key and Non-Key Decisions 
 
A key decision is a Cabinet decision that is likely: 
 

1. To result in the District Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard 
to the District Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or 

2. To be significant in terms of its effects on communities that live or work in an area comprising two or more wards. 
 
A non-key decision is one that is not a key decision. 
 
Access to documents 
 
Documents related to decisions made by Cabinet and individual Cabinet Members can be accessed from the Council’s website: 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk by following the links in the ‘Your Council and Democracy’ section. Information will be made publicly 
available approximately one week before a decision is due to be made so long as it does not relate to information that is exempt 
under Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended). You will also be able to view papers related to any Cabinet 
or Cabinet Member decision by coming to the Council’s main offices: Council Offices, St. Peter’s Hill, Grantham, Lincolnshire, 
NG31 6PZ or e-mailing democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk 

130

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


 

Summary Decision Maker / Date Action Contact 

COVID19 - Budget and Performance - Key Decision 

To consider the budget and 
performance in relation to the 
COVID19 pandemic 
 

Cabinet 
7 July 2020 
 

To take any necessary action 
 

The Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Services and 
Transformation (Councillor Kelham 
Cooke) 
 
Chief Executive 
Tel: 01476 40 60 80  
karen.bradford@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Future High Streets Fund -  

To consider the final bid for Future 
High Streets Funding 
 

Council 
16 July 2020 
 

To approve the final bid for 
future high streets funding 
and make recommendations 
to council regarding any 
budgetary requirements 
 

Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member 
for Growth and Leisure (Councillor 
Barry Dobson) 
 
Strategic Director Growth 
Tel: 01476 40 63 75  
p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Strategic Regeneration Acquisitions - Key Decision 

 
To make strategic regeneration 
acquisitions 
 
 

Cabinet 
July 2020 
 

 
 

The Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Services and 
Transformation (Councillor Kelham 
Cooke) 
 
Strategic Director Growth 
Tel: 01476 40 63 75 
p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

Information relating to this decision is exempt under paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended 
because it contains information which relate to the financial or 
business affairs of an individual or an organisation 

131



Summary Decision Maker / Date Action Contact 

South Kesteven District Council’s Best Practice Policy and Protocol on Debt Collection - Key Decision 

To consider the recommendations 
from the Rural and Communities OSC 
 

Cabinet 
8 September 2020 
 

To adopt the new policy and 
protocol 
 

Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Resources (Councillor Adam Stokes) 
 
Head of Customer Experience 
Tel: 01476 40 65 06 
n.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Design Guide SPD - approval of consultation draft - Key Decision 

The document will provide guidance 
to applicants and decision makers in 
order to improve the design quality of 
new development proposals as a 
supplement to the Local Plan policies.  
 

Cabinet 
8 September 2020 
 

To approve the SPD for 
consultation 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning (Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Head of Planning Policy 
Tel: 01476 40 64 38 
r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Proposed Development brief for Land at Stamford North - Key Decision 

To consider the proposed 
development brief for land at Stamford 
North prior to consultation 
 

Cabinet 
8 September 2020 
 
Council 
17 September 2020 
 

To approve the draft 
Supplementary Planning 
Document in respect of land 
at Stamford North for 
consultation 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning (Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Head of Planning Policy 
Tel: 01476 40 64 38 
r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Cultural Strategy - Key Decision 

To consider the draft Cultural Strategy 
for South Kesteven 
 

Cabinet 
8 September 2020 
 

To adopt a Cultural Strategy 
for South Kesteven 
 

Cabinet Member for Culture and 
Visitor Economy (Councillor 
Rosemary Trollope-Bellew) 
 
Head of Arts 
Tel: 01476 40 61 29 
michael.cross@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

132



Summary Decision Maker / Date Action Contact 

Leisure Centre Proposals - Key Decision 

To consider the Procurement Strategy 
and Investment Proposals for the 
Leisure facilities within the District 
 

Cabinet 
8 September 2020 
 

To agree the approach to 
delivering the programme to 
enhance leisure opportunities 
for everyone 
 

Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member 
for Growth and Leisure (Councillor 
Barry Dobson) 
 
Strategic Director Growth 
Tel: 01476 40 63 75 
p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Rectory Farm - Supplementary Planning Document - Key Decision 

To consider the Rectory Farm 
Supplementary Planning Document 
following consultation on a draft 
document 
 

Cabinet 
8 September 2020 
 
Council 
17 September 2020 
 

To approve a Supplementary 
Planning Document in respect 
to Rectory Farm 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning (Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Special Projects Manager 
Tel: 01476 40 61 64 
p.moore@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document - Final - Key Decision 

To consider the Design Guide 
Supplementary Planning Document 
following public consultation 
 

Cabinet 
September 2020 
 

To approve the Design Guide 
Supplementary Planning 
Document 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning (Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Head of Planning Policy 
Tel: 01476 40 64 38 
r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy - Key Decision 

To consider any proposed changes 
following consultation 
 

Cabinet 
8 September 2020 
 

To approve the policy 
 

Cabinet Member for Commercial and 
Operations (Councillor Dr Peter 
Moseley) 
 
Head of Environmental 
Tel: 01476 40 63 19 
a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

133



Summary Decision Maker / Date Action Contact 

South Kesteven District Council Corporate Plan - PFP 

To consider a new Corporate Plan for 
South Kesteven District Council 
 

Cabinet 
8 September 2020 
 
Council 
17 September 2020 
 

To make recommendation to 
Council 
 

The Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Services and 
Transformation (Councillor Kelham 
Cooke) 
 
Chief Executive 
Tel: 01476 40 60 80  
karen.bradford@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Asset Management Strategy - Key Decision 

To consider the draft Asset 
Management Strategy 
 

Cabinet 
8 September 2020 
 

To adopt an Asset 
Management Strategy 
 

The Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Services and 
Transformation (Councillor Kelham 
Cooke) 
 
Assistant Director, Growth 
Tel: 01476 40 6177 
jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Amended 2020/21 Budget – Recommendation to Council  

To consider an amended 2020/21 
budget 
 

Cabinet 
8 September 2020 
 
Council 
17 September 2020 
 

To make any 
recommendation to Council  
 

Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Resources (Councillor Adam Stokes) 
 
 
Richard Wyles, Interim Director of 
Finance, Section 151 Officer 
Tel: 01476 40 63 75 
r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

134



Summary Decision Maker / Date Action Contact 

St Peter's Hill, Grantham - public realm improvements - Key Decision 

To consider a report on St. Peter's 
Hill, Grantham - public realm 
improvements 
 

Cabinet 
September 2020 
 

To approve the proposals and 
budget 
 

The Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Services and 
Transformation (Councillor Kelham 
Cooke) 
 
Strategic Director Commercial and 
Operational  
Tel: 01476 40 63 44 
gary.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Allocation policy 2021 to include Choice Based Lettings - Key Decision 

To consider the policy and 
recommendations from the Rural and 
Communities OSC 
 

Cabinet 
1 December 2020 
 

To adopt a refreshed Housing 
Allocation Policy incorporating 
a Choice based Lettings 
Scheme 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning (Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Assistant Director of Housing 
Tel: 01476 40 62 99 
harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Housing Asset Management Strategy 2021-2026 - Key Decision 

To consider the strategy 
 

Cabinet 
1 December 2020 
 

To adopt a Housing Asset 
management Strategy 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning (Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Assistant Director of Housing 
Tel: 01476 40 62 99 
harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

135



Summary Decision Maker / Date Action Contact 

Council Tax Base 2021/22 - Key Decision 

To determine the Council Tax base to 
form the basis of the 2021/22 budget 
proposals to be recommended to 
Council 
 

Cabinet 
1 December 2020 
 

To agree the Council Tax 
base 2021/22 which will form 
the basis of the budget 
proposals for the year 
 

Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Resources (Councillor Adam Stokes) 
 
Interim Director of Finance, Section 
151 Officer 
Tel: 01476 40 63 75 
r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Draft Budget Proposals 2021/22 - Key Decision 

To consider the draft budget 
proposals for 2021/22. 
 

Cabinet 
1 December 2020 
 

To agree the draft budget 
proposals for 2021/22 for 
consultation 
 

Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Resources (Councillor Adam Stokes) 
 
Interim Director of Finance, Section 
151 Officer 
Tel: 01476 40 63 75 
r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Budget Proposals 2021/22 - Key Decision 

To agree the budget proposals for 
2021/22. 
 

Cabinet 
19 January 2021 
 
Council 
1 March 2021 
 

To recommend the budget for 
2021/22 to Council 
 

Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Resources (Councillor Adam Stokes) 
 
Interim Director of Finance, Section 
151 Officer 
Tel: 01476 40 63 75 
r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

136



Summary Decision Maker / Date Action Contact 

Pay Policy Statement – Legislative  

To receive recommendations from the 
Employment Committee on the 
Council’s Pay Policy Statement 
2021/22 
 

Council 
March 2021 
 

To approve the Council’s Pay 
Policy Statement 2021/22 
 

The Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Services and 
Transformation (Councillor Kelham 
Cooke) 
 
Head of Organisational Development 
and Change 
Tel: 01476 40 61 32 
e.pepper@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Customer Service Consultation Results - Key Decision 

To consider consultation in respect of 
customer services 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

To make any decisions on the 
basis of the feedback from 
the customer service 
consultation 
 

Cabinet Member for Communities 
(Councillor Annie Mason) 
 
Head of Customer Experience 
Tel: 01476 40 65 06 
n.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Please note that currently the decision date has been 
suspended.  A new date will be calculated after the 
COVID19 situation 
 

137



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Action Notes from the meeting held on 21 June 2020
	6 Performance Report
	Apdx 1 Waste Performance

	7 Carbon Footprint Report
	Appendix 1 SKDC Carbon Footprint and reduction opportunities

	8 Review of Public Space Protection Orders
	Appendix 1 part 1
	Appendix 1 part 2
	Appendix 1 part 3
	Appendix 1 part 4
	Appendix 1 part 5
	Appendix 1 part 6
	Appendix 1 part 7
	Appendix 1 part 8
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4 part 1
	Appendix 4 part 2
	Appendix 5

	9 2020/21 Work Programme
	FPlan July


